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Corporate Profile 
Troy (ASX, TSX: TRY) is a successful gold and silver producer with a track record of 

low cost mine development and production. The Company is unique amongst its peers 
having paid 13 fully franked cash dividends over the last 13 years.

Troy has been operating in South America since 2002 and, following development of 
the Casposo project in Argentina, the Company’s annual gold production is now above 

100,000oz of gold per annum.

In July 2013 the Company acquired Azimuth Resources Limited which had discovered 
and delineated a high-grade gold Resource in Guyana. Troy is continuing with infill 

drilling of the Resource and is targeting the release of a Pre-Feasibility Study in early 
2014 and if positive, would look to move quickly to project construction.

Troy’s gold and silver production is unhedged; allowing its shareholders access to the 
full benefit of current and future gold price upside.

Troy is a responsible corporate citizen, committed to the best practice of health and 
safety, environmental stewardship and social responsibility.
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Five Year Summary (Year Ending 30 June)

 
Sale 
of Sandstone

Repaid original  
Investec Debt Facility

6 months 
ahead of schedule

OPERATIONS 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Gold Produced (oz) 103,002 119,621 71,614 61,453 61,832

Cash Costs per oz (net of silver credits) ($/oz) A$624 A$458 A$561 A$855 A$673

US$640 US$472 US$554 US$741 US$496

Gold Equivalent Produced (oz) 127,060 137,457 76,983 61,453 61,832

Cast Costs per oz (Au_Eq) ($/oz) A$797 A$606 A$624 A$855 A$673

US$818 US$654 US$624 US$741 US$496

Gold Price Realised ($/oz) A$1,552 A$1,624 A$1,394 A$1,234 A$1,172

US$1,595 US$1,672 US$1,428 US$1,073 US$906

Silver Produced (oz) 1,361,133 937,208 224,537 - -

Silver Price Realised ($/oz) A$27 A$31 A$34 - -

US$28 US$32 US$36 - -

Sales Revenue ($ million) 203 209 102 75 75

Profit (loss) before tax ($ million) 32 55 17 (7) 19

Net Profit (loss) after tax (attributable)  
to members of the Company

($ million) 19 31 15 (7) 17

Dividends Paid (cents/share) - 10.0 6.0 & 4.01 - 4.0

Exploration Expenditure ($ million) 17.2 16.5 9 7 7

Capital Expenditure ($ million) 54 17 44 45 15

Cash and Bank Deposits ($ million) 26 59 28 16 38

1 Interim dividend paid 29 June 2011.

35%  

increase 
in mill throughput 

at Casposo

Acquisition 
of Azimuth Resources Limited

West Omai Project delivers the 

largest Mineral Resource
 in the Company’s history

HIGHLIGHTS OF 

2013Gold equivalent 
production of 

127,060 
ounces

Record exploration spend of  

$17.2 million
 with continued high grade 

drill results at Casposo

After tax profit of 

$18.6
million
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Underground Production Drill Rig Casposo
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Chairman’s Review

Dear Shareholders,

The 2013 year has been a year of significant 
change for your Company. In late March, Troy 
launched an all scrip off market takeover offer for 
Azimuth Resources Limited, which closed in mid-
July and led to Troy acquiring 100% ownership 
through compulsory acquisition in late August. 
We welcome a number of new shareholders onto 
the Troy register with the transaction resulting in 
45% of Troy’s expanded capital being held by 
former Azimuth shareholders. We also welcome 
two new directors from Azimuth and a number of 
highly qualified and important staff. Azimuth holds 
an exciting gold project in Guyana which hosts 
more than 1.6 million ounces of gold in Inferred 
Resources and a land position of ~8,000km2. 
We believe that the Azimuth assets will provide 
opportunities for long-term profitable production 
from the region and is consistent with Troy’s history 
of acquisition and development of high grade 
gold deposits. This transaction occurred against 
the background of a volatile gold price market. 
The reaction from our shareholders and investors 
support the confidence we have in the investment.

There are many other reasons why this year 
has been a pleasing year for all stakeholders 
in Troy. There continues to be improvement in 
the operating performance at Casposo through 
continuous improvement initiatives and the 
installation of a second mill. Whilst there have 
been delays in accessing ore from underground 
due to contractor productivity and procurement 
problems, it now appears to be performing 
satisfactorily with the full impact expected in 
the December quarter. We have continued our 
excellent record in providing a safe environment 
for our workers, and have continued our 
environmental awareness and focus. We continue 
to provide support for local communities through 
the focus on employing the local workforce and 
services, maintenance and upgrading of roads, 
provision of drinking water and power and 
building recreation and sporting facilities.

Troy has a record of being a consistent dividend 
payer and whilst no dividend has been declared 
for 2013, it is the Board’s intention to pay a 
dividend at the appropriate time. Currently 
the Company’s priorities are underground 
development at Casposo and understanding the 
timing and quantum of the capital requirements 
for development of the West Omai deposit. Once 
our cashflow requirements are better understood 
and we have full production from underground, 
we will again address the potential for a dividend 
payment in the 2014 year.

The Board and management of your Company 
have worked together closely in its activities for 

this year A number of our projects, including 
the Azimuth acquisition, have been managed 
by committees representing both Board and 
management participation. I continue to be 
impressed by the dedication and commitment 
of our staff and management and their families 
in all the countries we operate. The Troy Board 
continues to meet at the various operations and 
is planning to hold their first meeting in Guyana 
in 2014. I believe this assists in the appropriate 
setting of stakeholder priorities and allows first 
hand knowledge of the challenges that our 
operating team have to face on a daily basis.

We believe that the Casposo and West Omai 
properties will provide the basis for a sustainable, 
profitable long term future for our Company. We 
hope to be able to report to you, our shareholders, 
continued exploration success at our Argentinian 
and Guyanese properties, as we plan for 
Andohrinas to wind down in Brazil.

In my last report I undertook to continue our 
search for development assets that would enable 
our team to acquire and bring into production 
profitable mines in South America. Our Azimuth 
acquisition is a step in this path, but we continue 
to seek further opportunities that are consistent 
with our approach to development of low capex 
high grade South American opportunities.

Thank you to our team and management group for 
their achievement this year, particularly through 
the difficult implementation of a merger which 
can give rise to uncertainty on job security and 
direction. I thank our Managing Director for his 
dedication and focus during these times. I would 
also like to thank my fellow Board members, both 
present and past, for their selfless dedication to 
the Company and my particular thanks to Gordon 
Chambers for his years of service. I would like 
to congratulate the management, led by our 
Managing Director, and the Board members that 
resolved to reduce their salaries and fees in a 
response to the decline in the gold price and its 
potential impact on your Company’s profitability. 
I believe your Company has a strong dedicated 
team that is well placed to provide shareholders 
with a platform for growth in the coming year.

David Dix
Chairman

We believe that the 
Casposo and West 

Omai properties will 
provide the basis 
for a sustainable, 

profitable long 
term future for our 

Company.”

“
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Overview of Casposo Open Pit Looking East
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CEO’s Report

2013 was certainly a year of many challenges, 
but also many achievements for your Company. 
It was also a year of transition and preparation for 
future growth.

Troy has been able to create value for shareholders 
over the years by consistently pursuing its clear 
strategy of focusing on high-grade gold deposits, 
in areas of high prospectivity where we believe we 
can continue to add ounces through exploration.

Our approach to project development is to start 
with a smaller, scalable plant, using second hand 
equipment where appropriate. This approach 
minimises up front capital and allows for rapid 
mine development. It also allows for expansion and 
exploration to be funded by early project cashflows.

The successful acquisition of Azimuth Resources 
Limited delivered Troy the high-grade West Omai 
project with more than 1.6 million ounces of gold 
in Inferred Resources and the largest exploration 
ground position in Guyana covering the very 
prospective Guiana Shield Greenstone Terrane. 
Over the coming year Troy will complete the 
requisite studies and analysis to enable the project 
to be developed in a timely manner. Obviously this 
is dependent upon a number of factors outside 
of the Company’s control, most notably the gold 
price, but at this stage we are hopeful of being in 
a position to commence developing the mine in 
the second half of calendar 2014. West Omai is 
already the largest Resource ever owned by Troy 
and we are confident it will be its next gold mine.

Operationally, the highlight during the year has 
been the continued improvement at the Casposo 
processing facility where we saw a 35% increase 
in ore treated.  This has been the result of 
leadership, training and teamwork, particularly 
between operations and maintenance teams, and 
a committed focus on continuous improvement 
and operating excellence. The installation of 
a second mill towards the end of the year has 
further increased capacity.

Development of the underground mine at Casposo 
has been slower than originally planned, due to a 
number of contributing factors, including delays in 
importing mining equipment and poor productivity 
by the mining contractor. This has delayed access 

to the higher grade underground ore which then 
required the open pit to be the main ore source 
for the year, resulting in lower than planned gold 
grade being processed. Troy took over as owner-
miner in August of 2013 and pleasingly we have 
seen continued improvement in the underground 
productivity and it should start to have a positive 
impact on the mill feed in the December quarter 
of 2013.

Andorinhas has been a great performer for the 
Company, particularly providing strong cashflow 
when Casposo was under construction. However, 
it is nearing the end of its operating life and the 
increasing complexity of the remaining reserves 
has seen production drop and unit costs increase. 
It is currently expected to close in FY2015.

Lower gold grades at both sites saw gold production 
for the group fall 14% to 103,002oz in 2013. 
Compounding this, declining gold and silver prices 
saw revenue and margins fall, but the Company still 
recorded a profit after tax of $18.6 million. In the 
face of falling prices, management reacted quickly 
to ensure the Company could operate in the lower 
price environment focusing on cutting costs and 
extracting productivity improvements.

Looking forward, there is no doubt FY2014 will be 
both interesting and exciting and offer its share 
of new challenges. Rest assured, the Board and 
management are committed to navigating the 
Company forward through these challenges to 
maximise value for shareholders.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
all of Troy’s employees and contractors for their 
hard work during the year. I would also like to 
thank my fellow Directors and senior management 
for their support and I look forward to working with 
them in the year ahead.

Paul Benson
CEO

West Omai is 
already the largest 

Resource ever 
owned by Troy and 

we are confident 
it will be its next 

gold mine.”

“
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Operations Report 

ARgEnTinA 
Casposo (Troy 100%)

Occupational Health and Safety

There were 29 lost time accidents recorded during the course of the year. The Company is focused on improving safety through training, 
improved communication and better supervision. The Health and Safety Department will be increased and re-organised in 2014.  
Where possible, Casposo will seek to reduce the number of contractors being used in a bid to minimise the frequency of accidents.

Production

Operations at Casposo benefited from a dedicated effort focused on continuous improvement with tonnes treated at 427,709 tonnes and gold 
recovery of 89.24% being 35% and 2% higher respectively than the previous year.  The improved operating performance almost offset the 
30% fall in gold grade, resulting in gold production of 69,314 oz, down only 2% on the previous year. Silver production was up 45% due to the 
higher throughput and metallurgical recovery and steady head grade.

Ore production was hampered by the delayed start-up of the Casposo underground mine which was originally scheduled to commence 
feeding ore into the mill feed in the December quarter 2012. The delays, caused by a combination of factors including difficulties importing 
mining equipment and poor performance by the mining contractor, saw ore from underground only enter the blend in a meaningful way in the 
September quarter 2013. This put considerable pressure on the open pit to deliver significantly more than budget, in terms of ore mined and 
waste removal. Waste stripping totalled 1,699,316 tonnes, 18% higher than last year. 

Underground productivity improved during the year and by the end of June 2013 some 1600m of tunnels had been developed. In August 
2013, the Company took over the underground mining activities as “owner-miner” and has continued to see improving productivity. The real 
impact of the underground in terms of grade will start to be seen in the December quarter with a steady increase in head grade as deeper, 
higher grade ore zones are intersected. 

The increased production tonnages required to offset the lower head grade, combined with increased overburden removal and general in-
country inflation, saw unit production cash costs increase 40% to US$563 per ounce in 2013 (net of silver credits).

Towards the end of the financial year a second mill was installed and commissioned, on schedule and under budget, thus increasing plant 
capacity to 500 ktpa.

Community and Sustainability

Troy continues to be very proactive in the community, assisting local schools and colleges, providing health services, child nutrition training, 
support for the arts and encourages sport and is also participating in local celebrations and events to name but a few. Troy is also assisting 
horticulture and apiculture training in the local community. Supporting the investment in local infrastructure, Troy has provided ground for the 
construction of a new hospital in Calingasta to be built by the municipality. Also in collaboration with the Calingasta Municipality and OSSE, the 
San Juan Water Board, Troy provided 9kms of pipe which has been used to connect previously disadvantaged houses in Calingasta Village 
with potable water. 

Outlook

Underground productivity and the delivery of high grade ore from the underground mine will be key to the site’s performance going forward.  
As the higher grade ore tends to be present lower in the underground ore zones, we expect to see a steady increase in overall gold equivalent 
grade as the lower levels are accessed. The silver to gold ratio increases with depth and thus we expect the silver component of the gold 
equivalent production to increase with time.

One of the key challenges for Argentina is the high inflation rate. In recent years the devaluation of the peso against the US dollar has to some 
extent offset the domestic inflation. 
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BRAZiL 
Andorinhas (Troy 100%)

Occupational Health and Safety

Andorinhas has an excellent safety record. Although the mine had three lost time incidents during the year, these were relatively minor in nature 
and have bolstered the teams resolve to further improve health and safety, both at work and at home.

A dedicated emergency response team was formed and trained during the year, with frequent emergency drills held to test response times 
and effectiveness.

Production

The main Melechete orebody is becoming increasingly structurally and geologically complex with depth. The vein has split into two distinct 
quartz lodes that are thinner and tightly folded making it more difficult to mine and increases waste dilution. To adjust to these changing 
conditions, the underground operation is transitioning from predominantly mechanised cut-and-fill mining to a hand-held shrink-stoping 
methodology. The latter helps minimise dilution and maximise grade to the plant. The increasing complexity however negatively impacts 
overall productivity as can be seen in the underground production for the year. Ore production decreased from 206,414 tonnes at 6.30g/t in 
2012 to 167,763 tonnes at 5.21 g/t in 2013.

With less tonnes of higher grade ore from underground, the mill has been dependent upon low grade stockpiled material to maintain 
throughput. A total of 246,339 tonnes of ore was processed at a head grade of 4.67 g/t. Plant recovery averaged 91.75%, a slight reduction 
from 2012 due in large to the increased feed of the different ore type from Lagoa Seca, but also to on-going grid power interruptions from 
the state power supplier.

The lower gold production resulted in a 40% increase in unit cash costs to US$799/oz gold.

Sustainability and Environment

Andorinhas continues to support community and social initiatives, in partnership with our two local communities.

The Company assisted the communities by supporting various Health Initiatives such as Dengue Fever prevention and health awareness 
campaigns in addition to promoting environmental awareness by holding an annual Environmental Day, involving 500 children from local schools.

Planting on the Company’s 200 acre Lagoa Seca farm is nearing completion, with a total of 26,600 native hardwood saplings planted to date. 
All of the saplings used for this and other projects were cultivated at Andorinhas’ own nursery. The aim of this project is to re-establish the native 
hardwood forests that dominated the area prior to being cleared by farming during the last century.

Outlook

Andorinhas is nearing the end of its operational life with closure expected in calendar 2014. Permitting of new mine development continues 
to present problems in Brazil, as the new mining law is yet to be ratified in Congress. The complexity of the permitting process and continued 
delays at both Federal and State levels is holding up approval for many thousands of projects across the country. This impacts Troy directly as 
we are awaiting approval to enable mining from the small, but high grade Coruja open pit to proceed and also for the development and mining 
of the iron ore on the Company’s property by a local Brazilian company. At this stage, the Company is of the view that the permits for these 
projects will be received early in calendar 2014.

Despite an eventful and challenging year, Andorinhas, by fostering a culture of continual improvement, safety and innovation, continues to 
strive to maintain the highest levels of operational excellence that has become the trademark of Troy.
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AuSTRALiA
Sandstone (Troy 100%)

The Sandstone project ceased operating in September 2010 and has since been on care and maintenance. The Company announced the sale 
of Sandstone to Southern Cross Goldfields Limited (ASX Code: SXG) in August 2012 and completion occurred in March 2013.

In accordance with the agreement the Company has:

• received a payment of A$2.28 million; and

• been issued with 43.665 million options for SXG shares, with an exercise price of 10c per share and a term expiring on 10 October 2017.

In addition, Troy will receive a 2% uncapped NSR (net smelter return) royalty on all production from the Sandstone leases.

Environmental bonds for A$2.7 million were also released as part of the sale.

The options and royalty provide Troy with an exposure to any development in the Sandstone region and other regions in which Southern Cross 
are active.

All rehabilitation responsibility has now been transferred to Southern Cross.
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Exploration

guYAnA

As part of the friendly takeover announced on 28 March, Troy loaned Azimuth A$10 million to undertake an infill drilling program of a high 
grade zone at the Smarts Deposit. This work was undertaken under the direction of Azimuth management in consultation with Troy. Troy 
essentially became manager when it announced that its bid was free of conditions on 2 July thus controlling 78.23% of Azimuth. Since taking 
control, the exploration team at Azimuth has been given approval to plan for continued drilling which is aimed at converting Inferred Resources 
to Indicated Resource status. 

Recent Resource drilling focused on approximately 1km of the 2.5km strike length of the Smarts Deposit (see Figure below). The program 
consisted of 62 holes for a total of 8777m of drilling and included both Reverse Circulation drilling (18 Holes / 1867m) and Diamond Core 
drilling (44 holes / 6910m). The drilling focused on improving drill density and better defining the mineralisation within the main zone of the 
Smarts Deposit.

Smarts – Hicks Corridor – 2013 Infill Drill Targets

The drilling has confirmed the grade and continuity of the mineralisation in the central portion of the Deposit. This infill drilling has allowed 
approximately 44% of the Inferred Resource at the Smarts Deposit to be converted to the Indicated Category. The upgraded Indicated 
Resource (at a 1g/t cut-off) is estimated at 2.9Mt grading 4.7g/t gold containing 442,000 ounces gold which includes near surface oxide 
and transitional mineralisation estimated at 500,000 tonnes at a grade of 6.2g/t gold. The remaining Inferred Resource (at a 1g/t cut-off) is 
estimated at 5.5Mt grading 3.5g/t gold containing 621,000 ounces gold. The Hicks Inferred Resource (at a 1g/t cut-off) remains unchanged 
at 8.7Mt grading 2.1g/t gold containing 571,000 ounces gold. The latest drilling has confirmed the existence of high grade mineralisation with 
the increased confidence enabling the estimation of an Indicated Resource for part of the Deposit.
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Longitudinal Section Smarts 2013 Infill Drilling

At this stage the broad outline for the exploration / drilling program going forward includes: 

• Infill drilling will continue looking to extend Indicated Resource along strike and down dip of the Smarts Deposit and around the higher grade 
section of the Hicks Deposit;

• Limited focused 25m spaced infill program at Smarts to further increase confidence in the Resource and move to Measured Classification; 

• Metallurgical/Geotechnical drilling of Smarts – Hicks Deposits;

• Sterilization drilling of proposed Plant, Tailings and Camp sites; and

• Brownfields drilling will be deferred until 2014 with the near term focus on surface exploration of Brownfields area including target generation 
and ranking along Smarts, Hicks and Gem Creek Trends. 

Structural Corridors and Main Targets
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ARgEnTinA

During 2013 two exploration drill rigs continued to drill ore grade intercepts in and around existing Resources targeting gaps within the existing 
drilling along the Mercado - Kamila – Southeast Trend. The most recent drilling focused on underground targets including Mercado Deeps, 
Kamila Mercado Gap, INCA East Vein, B Vein – B Vein 2, INCA 2 Gap and INCA 3 Vein. Exploration drilling with the Man-Portable rig tested the 
outcropping vein targets in the east including Julieta, Kamila Offset, Aurora, Lauren, Sonia, Oveja Negra, Lucia and Cerro Norte.

Target generation work comprising of detailed geological mapping, alteration sampling/mapping, multi-element  geochemical studies,  
prospecting, rock chip grab and rock chip channel sampling resulted in the acquisition  of new geological, structural, geochemical and  
geophysical data. The new data has aided in the discovery of a number of new outcropping veins as well as the re-assessment and ranking 
known vein targets.  Drilling was suspended at the end of July 2013 to allow crews to focus on target generation and identification of new drill 
targets. Drilling is planned to resume late in the 2013-2014 fiscal year.

Extensional and Brownfields Target Geology & Location Plan
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During the year Ground Magnetics and Induced Polarization – Gradient Array survey grids were expanded to the northwest towards Julieta (see 
Figure below). The Casposo tenements are cut diagonally by a major northwest – southeast trending regional structural corridor (see Figure 
below) this hosts the known deposits at Kamila, Mercado and Julieta; where historically most of the drilling was focussed. The majority of this 
corridor between Mercado and Julieta (5km) remains untested because the area is covered by younger volcanics and no outcropping veins have 
been mapped.  An Induced Polarization survey was conducted to aid in defining drill targets under the shallow cover (see Figure below).  

 
2012-2013 Ground Induced Polarization – Chargeability Plot 

In March, CA-13-548 the first, reconnaissance drill hole targeting the SE Extension of INCA Vein Trend was drilled about 300m southeast of the 
last hole within the underground stope design. CA-13-548 produced a 1.20m downhole interval grading 10.36g/t gold and 179g/t silver or 
13.34g/t Au_Eq, our first ore grade hit southeast of Post Mineral Dyke 4. 

Follow-up drilling comprising of four additional holes were completed with significant intercepts reported in two holes CA-13-553 and CA-13-
561 about 70m apart. The setting of this new INCA 3 Zone differs from the INCA 2 Zone in that the high grade gold and silver mineralisation 
is located near the rhyolite – andesite contact whereas the INCA 2 Reserve is located completely in andesite well below the contact with the 
overlying rhyolite.  This new mineralisation is associated with the margins of a north-south striking Post Mineral Mafic Dyke. Mineralisation 
in this block has a distinct geochemical signature that comprises of very low base metals values, anomalous arsenic and the upper vein in 
CA-13-561 assayed 1000ppm molybdenum. Additional drilling will be required to further delineate this zone southeast of Dyke 4. Significant 
intercepts include: 2.75m at 27.77g/t gold and 300g/t silver or 32.78g/t Au_Eq from 384.60m including: 0.50m at 139.54g/t gold and 
1,587g/t silver or 165.98g/t Au_Eq from 386.15m; 1.35m at 59.87g/t gold and 729g/t silver or 72.03g/t Au_Eq from 383.25m, including: 
0.90m at 88.69g/t gold and 1,085g/t silver or 106.78g/t Au_Eq from 383.25m; 0.80m at 5.86g/t gold and 15g/t silver or 6.11g/t Au_Eq from 
390.20m and 0.35m at 146.02g/t gold and 1,504g/t silver or 171.09g/t Au_Eq from 395.10m. 

There is still about 500m from CA-13-561 to the southeast towards the Cerro Norte Boundary Fault. These new results open up both strike 
extensions to the northwest and further to the southeast.  Due to the depths required to further assess this target follow-up drilling has been 
deferred until the underground development advances sufficiently to allow for drilling to be completed from underground. 
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Longitudinal Section Kamila Southeast Trend Step-out INCA 3 Zone

During the year drilling was focussed on the B Vein/B Vein 2 Target situated in the Hangingwall of the INCA Structure. This drilling infilled the 
established Inferred Resource and tested the structure along strike to the northeast and the southeast beyond Post Mineral Dyke #2. A number 
of intercepts have defined mineralisation 230m to the south west and parallel to the INCA 2 Reserve (see Figure below). Mineralisation remains 
open along strike in both directions. Significant recent intercepts (see below) include: 0.65m grading 118.26g/t gold and 1,280g/t silver or 
139.60g/t Au_Eq from 390.45m; 2.20m grading 1.64g/t gold and 1,208g/t silver or 21.78g/t Au_Eq from 224.60m; 1.05m grading 1.33g/t 
gold and 376g/t silver or 7.60g/t Au_Eq from 249.45m and 2.10m grading 3.04g/t gold and 445g/t silver or 10.46g/t Au_Eq from 266.90m; 
2.20m grading 5.21g/t gold and 125g/t silver or 7.30g/t Au_Eq from 121.10m; 2.50m grading 3.99g/t gold and 169g/t silver or 6.81g/t 
Au_Eq from 117.60m, including 1.40m grading 6.41g/t gold and 254g/t silver or 10.65g/t Au_Eq from 118.70m; 2.75m grading 0.83g/t gold 
and 273g/t silver or 5.38g/t Au_Eq from 405.70m; 0.70m grading 0.46g/t gold and 170g/t silver or 3.30g/t Au_Eq from 237.80m and 2.10m 
grading 2.81g/t gold and 339g/t silver or 8.46g/t Au_Eq from 256.00m; 3.05m grading 2.79g/t gold and 75g/t silver or 4.05g/t Au_Eq 
from 120.10m. A Resource Estimate for this target will be undertaken in the coming months and any additional drilling will deferred until the 
underground development advances sufficiently to allow for drilling to be completed from underground. 
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Longitudinal Section B Vein and B Vein 2 with Most Recent Intercepts

In the second half of the year, the man portable Diamond Core Rig was moved to Julieta where six holes (JU-13-47 to JU-13-52) were drilled, 
totalling 1,134.95m. The drilling tested the down dip potential of the South Vein Zone to the northwest, southeast and vertically. The holes cut 
a series of narrow, brecciated quartz and quartz-calcite veins and stockworks and a number of post mineral dykes. Only a limited number 
of assays have been received to date with the bulk of the results pending. Best result received to date was 0.90m grading 2.74g/t gold and 
46g/t silver or 3.50g/t Au_Eq from 91.95m.

BRAZiL

During the past year exploration has been focussed on underground drilling of extensions to the known mineralised zones at Mamão in an 
attempt to add incremental ounces to the production plan and extend the mine life. The regional exploration program was completed and the 
Company withdrew from the three joint ventures returning the tenements the vendors that included; Rio Maria JV returned to (Brazmin Ltda) 
Talon Metals Corp, Tangará JV to Horizonte Minerals Brazil and Sapucaia JV to Xstrata Brasil Exploração Mineral Ltda.

Underground drilling focused on the area immediately below the Reserve targeting the 870m, 850m, 830m, 810m and 790m levels of the 
Melechete Lode. This drilling confirmed that the Melechete Lode dips steeply to the north and rather than one broad quartz lode, it now has 
split into several narrower quartz veins each hosted within biotite-pyrite altered shear zones. This Resource extension drilling successfully 
defined ore blocks on the 870m and 850m levels. The most recent drilling focused on the 830m level where a number of high grade intercepts 
were drilled. This drilling was staged from drill positions on the 870m level above the target resulting in less than ideal drill orientations and 
thus true widths of reported intercepts are estimated at about 60% of the downhole interval. Significant recent intercepts included: the best 
hole drilled to date by the Company on the property MUD329: 18m grading 39.41g/t gold from 86.00m including; 15m at 46.89g/t gold from 
89.00m with a high grade core of 4m at 101.93g/t gold from 96.00m as well as MUD319: 2m grading 14.27g/t gold from 79.20m; MUD305: 
2m grading 11.65g/t gold from 78.45m; MUD325: 1m grading 9.17g/t gold from 77.50m; MUD327: 1m at 8.06g/t gold from 83.15m and 
1.85m at 7.35g/t gold from 91.15m. 

Deeper underground drilling to test Melechete Lode extensions below the Reserve have been completed. This drilling targeted the east and 
west flanks of the Reserve at depth as well as beyond the felsic and mafic post mineral dykes. No significant values were reported. 

By fiscal year end responsibility for the extensional Resource drilling was handed over to the mine geology team and the exploration group 
effort at Andorinhas came to a close.
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Mineral Reserves & Resources 
gOLd & SiLvER AS OF 30 JunE 20131

Table 1: Resource and Reserve Summary
Category Tonnes (t) Grade (g/t) Ounces (oz)

Gold Mineral Reserves
Proved 107,000 1.4 4,700

Probable 1,836,000 4.6 274,000

TOTAL 1,943,000 4.5 278,700

Silver Mineral Reserves
Probable 1,633,000 283.7 14,897,500

TOTAL 1,633,000 283.7 14,897,500

Gold Mineral Resources (Inclusive of Mineral Reserves)
Measured 286,000 3.6 33,400

Indicated 5,840,000 4.4 818,300

Measured & Indicated 6,126,000 4.3 851,700
Inferred 15,715,000 2.7 1,362,400

Silver Mineral Resources (Inclusive of Mineral Reserves)
Measured 171,000 726.0 3,991,600

Indicated 2,042,000 205.8 13,514,200

Measured & Indicated 2,213,000 246.0 17,505,800
Inferred 801,000 128.7 3,309,500

Gold Equivalent Mineral Reserves
Proved 107,000 1.4 4,700

Probable 1,836,000 8.8 521,200

TOTAL 1,943,000 8.4 525,900

Gold Equivalent Mineral Resources (Inclusive of Mineral Reserves)
Measured 286,000 7.7 99,600

Indicated 5,840,000 5.1 1,042,500

Measured & Indicated 6,126,000 5.2 1,142,100
Inferred 15,715,000 1.8 1,417,300

Note to Table 1 
1  This incorporates the mineral resource estimate for the West Omai Project which is reported as of 31 August 2013 due to receipt of final drilling and 

modelling results subsequent to 30 June 2013.
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Table 2: Gold Mineral Reserves

country Project Deposit category
Tonnes

(t)
Gold Grade

(Au g/t)
Gold Ounces

(Au oz)
Argentina Casposo Kamila/

Mercado Pit 
instu and 
stocks

Probable 720,000 4.1 95,900

Kamila 
Underground

Probable 913,000 4.9 144,100

Brazil Andorinhas Mamão 
Underground 
instu and 
stocks

Probable 125,000 4.7 19,300

Coruja Pit Probable 78,000 5.9 14,700

Lagoa Seca 
Stockpiles

Proven 107,000 1.4 4,700

Total Proven 107,000 1.4 4,700
Total Probable 1,836,000 4.6 274,000

Total Mineral Reserves Gold 1,943,000 4.5 278,700

Silver Mineral Reserves

country Project Deposit category
Tonnes

(t)
Silver Grade 

(Ag g/t)
Silver Ounces 

(Ag oz)
Argentina Casposo Kamila/

Mercado Pit 
instu and 
stocks

Probable 720,000 125.9 2,913,600

Kamila 
Underground

Probable 913,000 408.3 11,983,900

Total Mineral Reserves Silver 1,633,000 283.7 14,897,500

Casposo Gold Equivalent Mineral Reserves

country Project Deposit category
Tonnes 

(t)
Gold Equivalent Grade

(Au_Eq g/t)
Gold Equivalent Ounces

 (Au_Eq oz)
Argentina Casposo Kamila/

Mercado Pit 
instu and 
stocks

Probable 720,000 6.2 144,300

Kamila 
Underground

Probable 913,000 11.7 342,900

Casposo Gold Equivalent Mineral Reserves 1,633,000 9.3 487,200
 
Note to Table 2 
Rounding errors may occur.
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Table 3: Gold Mineral Resources (Inclusive of Mineral Reserves)

country Project Deposit category
Tonnes

(t)
Gold Grade 

(Au g/t)
Gold Ounces 

(Au oz)
Argentina Casposo Kamila/Mercado Measured 171,000 5.0 27,500

Indicated 2,042,000 4.1 266,900

Inferred 191,000 4.9 30,300

Julieta Inferred 437,000 4.0 56,200

Kamila SE INCA Inferred 173,000 1.3 7,200

Brazil Andorinhas Mamão Measured 8,000 4.7 1,200

Indicated 136,000 11.2 49,000

Inferred 216,000 6.2 43,100

Coruja Indicated 171,000 3.6 20,000

Lagoa Seca 
Stockpiles

Measured 107,000 1.4 4,700

Lagoa Seca West Indicated 577,000 2.2 40,400

Inferred 171,000 1.3 7,000

Marcinho Pit Inferred 79,000 2.3 5,900

Luiza Inferred 258,000 2.5 20,700

Guyana West Omai1 Smarts Indicated 2,914,000 4.7 442,000

Inferred 5,538,000 3.5 621,000

Hicks Inferred 8,652,000 2.1 571,000

Total Mineral Resources Gold Measured 286,000 3.6 33,400
Indicated 5,840,000 4.4 818,300
Inferred 15,715,000 2.7 1,362,400

Silver Mineral Resources (Inclusive of Mineral Reserves)

country Project Deposit category
Tonnes

(t)
Silver Grade 

(Ag g/t)
Silver Ounces 

(Ag oz)
Argentina Casposo Kamila/Mercado Measured 171,000 726.0 3,991,600

Indicated 2,042,000 205.8 13,514,200

Inferred 191,000 384.8 2,362,800

Julieta Inferred 437,000 23.0 317,600

Kamila SE INCA Inferred 173,000 113.1 629,100

Total Mineral Resources Silver Measured 171,000 726.0 3,991,600
Indicated 2,042,000 205.8 13,514,200
Inferred 801,000 128.7 3,309,500

Casposo Gold Equivalent Mineral Resources (Inclusive of Mineral Reserves)

country Project Deposit category
Tonnes

(t)

Gold Equivalent 
Grade

(Au_Eq g/t)

Gold Equivalent 
Ounces 

(Au_Eq oz)
Argentina Casposo Kamila/Mercado Measured 171,000 17.0 93,700

Indicated 2,042,000 7.5 491,200

Inferred 191,000 11.3 69,500

Julieta Inferred 437,000 4.4 61,600

Kamila SE INCA Inferred 173,000 3.2 17,600

Casposo Gold Equivalent Mineral Resources Measured 171,000 17.0 93,700
Indicated 2,042,000 7.5 491,200
Inferred 801,000 5.8 148,700
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Note to Table 3
(1) The resource estimate for the Smarts Deposit at the West Omai Project is reported as of 31 August 2013 due to receipt of final drilling and modelling 

results subsequent to 30 June 2013.
 Rounding errors may occur.

Notes to Tables 2 and 3:
• Cut-off grades for reporting Mineral Resources are applied as follows:

• Argentina: Casposo Pit - 0.8g/t Au_Eq (JORC 2004)
• Argentina: Casposo Underground - 2.0g/t Au_Eq
• Argentina: INCA 2 Kamila SE Underground – 2.0g/t Au_Eq
• Brazil: Mamão Underground - 2.0g/t Au
• Brazil: Lagoa Seca West - 0.8g/t Au (JORC 2004)
• Brazil: Luiza - 0.8g/t Au
• Brazil: Coruja - 0.8g/t Au
• Brazil: Marcinho – 0.8g/t Au
• Guyana: Smarts – 1.0g/t Au (JORC 2004)
• Guyana: Hicks - 1.0g/t Au

• Cut-off grades for reporting Ore Reserves are applied as follows:
• Argentina: Casposo Pit – 1.5g/t Au_Eq
• Argentina: Casposo Underground – 4.3g/t Au_Eq
• Brazil: Mamão Underground – 4.0g/t Au

• Casposo Mineral Reserves have been estimated using a gold price of US$1500/oz and silver price of US$28/oz.
• Gold equivalency at Casposo for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves has been calculated by the formula Au_Eq = Au g/t + (Ag g/t ÷ 60.0). The 

gold: silver ratio of 60.0 has been determined using metal prices of US$1,500/oz for gold and US$28.00/oz for silver and processing recoveries of 
90% for gold and 80% for silver.

• The Mamão Underground Mineral Reserve was estimated using a gold price of US$912/oz.
• Mineral Resources are reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves. Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have demonstrated 

economic viability.
• Resources estimates for West Omai (Smarts and Hicks) were carried out by an independent consultant, Runge Pincock Minarco detailed in Technical 

Report of March 2013.
• The Mineral Resource for Mamão was carried out by independent consultant, Snowden Mining Industry Consultants detailed in Technical Report of 

December 2007.
• The Mineral Resource estimate for Casposo was carried by independent consultants Auralia Mining Consultants detailed in Technical Report of May 2012.
• All models are estimated with ordinary kriging within geologically interpreted mineralised domains.
• The type and density of drilling is adequate and typical of industry standards for estimating and classifying ore deposits of the type involved.
• Assaying has been conducted to a standard and quality suitable for estimating Mineral Resources and Reserves.
• Ore Reserves for underground mines at Mamão and Casposo were based on studies and designs conducted by Auralia Mining Consultants.
• Resource models and Mineral Reserves are depleted for mining based on survey measurements of open pits and/or underground workings. Mining 

depletions are reconciled against mill production and surface stockpile surveys.
• More details regarding the Mineral Resource and Reserve estimation can be found in Technical Reports for the respective projects on the 

Company’s website.
• Mineral Resources for Guyana, West Omai are estimated in accordance with JORC (2012). The information is extracted from the report entitled 

‘Smarts Deposit – Resource Update’ created on 29 August 2013 (relodged 2 September 2013) and is available to view on the Company’s website. 
The Company is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information in the original market announcement and, in the 
case of estimates of Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves that all material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the estimates in the 
relevant market announcements continue to apply and have not materially changed. The Company confirms that the form and context in which the 
Competent Person’s findings are presented have not been materially modified from the original market announcement.

• The information that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves for each of the Andorinhas and Casposo projects was 
prepared and first disclosed under JORC 2004.  It has not been updated since to comply with the JORC Code 2012 on the basis that the information 
has not materially changed since it was last reported.
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Table 4: Comparison with 2011/2012 Year Resource and Reserve Summary

category

30 June 2013 30 June 2012

Ounces
variation comments

Tonnes
(t)

Grade
(g/t)

Ounces
(oz)

Tonnes
(t)

Grade
(g/t)

Ounces
(oz)

Gold Mineral Reserves
Argentina
Proved 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0

Probable 1,633,000 4.6 240,000 1,993,000 4.6 298,000 -58,000 Mining depletion

Brazil
Proved 107,000 1.4 4,700 82,000 2.5 6,700 -2,000 Mining depletion

Probable 203,000 5.2 34,000 310,000 8.6 85,900 -51,900
Mining depletion and some areas adjacent to 
historic workings removed from Resources

Silver Mineral Reserves
Argentina
Probable 1,633,000 283.7 14,897,500 1,993,000 235.7 15,103,800 -206,300 Mining depletion

Gold Mineral Resources
Argentina
Measured 171,000 5.0 27,500 171,000 5.0 27,500 0

Indicated 2,042,000 4.1 266,900 2,043,000 4.0 263,800 3,100
Mining depletion balanced by addition of 
surface stocks into Mineral Resources

Inferred 801,000 3.6 93,700 801,000 3.6 93,700 0

Brazil
Measured 115,000 1.6 5,900 95,000 2.5 7,500 -1,600 Mining depletion

Indicated 884,000 3.8 109,400 986,000 4.4 138,900 -29,500
Mining depletion and some areas adjacent to 
historic workings removed from Resources

Inferred 724,000 3.3 76,700 860,000 5.3 146,700 -70,000 Mining depletion

Australia
Measured 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 Project divested March 2013

Indicated 0 0.0 0 1,932,000 2.3 145,900 -145,900 Project divested March 2013

Inferred 0 0.0 0 12,586,000 1.4 574,400 -574,400 Project divested March 2013

Guyana
Measured 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 Acquired as part of AZH takeover July 2013

Indicated 2,914,000 4.7 442,000 0 0.0 0 442,000 Acquired as part of AZH takeover July 2013

Inferred 14,190,000 2.6 1,192,000 0 0.0 0 1,192,000 Acquired as part of AZH takeover July 2013

Silver Mineral Resources
Argentina
Measured 171,000 726.0 3,991,600 171,000 726.0 3,991,600 0

Indicated 2,042,000 205.8 13,514,200 2,043,000 227.9 14,971,500 -1,457,300 Mining depletion

Inferred 801,000 128.7 3,309,500 801,000 128.7 3,309,600 -100

Total Gold Equivalent Mineral Reserves
Proved 107,000 1.4 4,700 82,000 2.6 6,700 -2,000 Mining depletion

Probable 1,836,000 8.8 521,200 2,303,000 8.6 635,600 -114,400 Mining depletion

Total 1,943,000 8.4 525,900 2,385,000 8.4 642,300 -116,400

Total Gold Equivalent Mineral Resources
Measured 289,000 7.7 99,600 266,000 11.9 101,800 -2,200

Indicated 5,840,000 5.1 1,042,500 4,961,000 5.1 808,300 234,200 Acquisition of West Omai Project

Inferred 15,715,000 1.8 1,417,300 14,247,000 1.9 849,100 568,200 Acquisition of West Omai Project
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MinERAL RESERvES & RESOuRCES iROn ORE AS OF 30 JunE 2013

Table 5a: Mineral Reserves – Iron Ore

Deposit
Reporting  

cut-Off (% Fe)
Tonnes Fe % Al2O3 % SiO2 P % lOI

Brazil
Andorinhas – Abacaxi

Probable No cut-off 2,118,000 63.1 4.7 2.7 0.048 1.4

Andorinhas – Estrela

Probable No cut-off 692,000 64.9 1.9 4.8 0.023 1.0

Total 2,810,000 63.6 3.9 3.2 0.042 1.3

Table 5b: Mineral Resources – Iron Ore (Inclusive of Mineral Reserves)

Deposit
Reporting  

cut-Off (% Fe)
Tonnes Fe % Al2O3 % SiO2 P % lOI

Brazil

Andorinhas – Abacaxi

Indicated No cut-off 4,898,200 50.7 8.5 7.7 0.065 4.1

Andorinhas – Estrela

Indicated No cut-off 1,593,900 51.2 6.0 8.1 0.04 2.8

Total 6,495,000 50.8 7.9 7.8 0.06 3.8

Notes to Tables 5a and 5b:
The information that relates to the Andorinhas Iron Ore Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves was prepared and first disclosed under JORC 2004. It has 
not been updated since to comply with the JORC Code 2012 on the basis that the information has not materially changed since it was last reported.
Troy’s Andorinhas Iron Ore Mineral Reserves and Resources remain unchanged since last reported.
Details of the Andorinhas Iron Ore Project can be found in the technical report “Andorinhas Iron Project, Para State, Brazil – September 2008”. The report 
was lodged under Troy’s corporate profile on the SEDAR website on 22 October 2008.
A final agreement was executed to sell the high grade colluvial iron ore on the Andorinhas leases to Mineraҫᾶo Floresta Do Araguaia (MFA). Details of 
the agreement can be reviewed under Troy’s corporate profile on the SEDAR website dated 18 November 2010.

Competent Person Statements – Mineral Reserves & Resources
Information of a scientific or technical nature that relates to Exploration results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves for the Andorinhas and Casposo 
projects was prepared under the supervision of Peter J. Doyle, Vice President Exploration and Business Development of Troy, a “qualified person” under 
National Instrument 43-101 – “Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects”, a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Doyle 
has sufficient experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration, and to the activity he is undertaking, to 
qualify as a “competent person” as defined under the Australian JORC Code as per the 2004 edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Mr Doyle has reviewed and approved the information contained in this report. Mr Doyle is:
• A full time employee of Troy Resources Limited
• Has sufficient experience which is relevant to the type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent 

Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’
• A Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy
• Has consented in writing to the inclusion of this data
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Targets, Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves for the West Omai project 
is based on, and fairly represents, information and supporting documentation prepared by Mr Peter J Doyle, Vice President Exploration and Business 
Development of Troy, a Competent Person who is a Fellow of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and a “qualified  person” under  National  
Instrument 43 101 – “Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects”. Mr Doyle has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation 
and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 
‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr Doyle consents to the inclusion in the report of the 
matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. Mr Doyle is a full time employee of Troy.
For further information regarding the Company’s projects in Argentina, Brazil and Guyana, including a description of Troy’s quality assurance program, 
quality control measures, the geology, sample collection and testing procedures in respect of the Company’s projects please refer to the technical reports 
filed which are available under the Company’s profile at www.sedar.com or on the Company’s website. Additional information regarding the West Omai 
project can be found under Azimuth Resources Limited’s profile at www.sedar.com.
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Corporate governance Statement
The Board of Troy Resources Limited (Board) is committed to ensuring that the Company’s obligations and responsibilities to its various 
stakeholders are fulfilled through its corporate governance practices.  Troy is committed to the development of a culture that values ethical 
behaviour, integrity and respect. We believe that adopting and operating in accordance with high standards of corporate governance enhances 
the Company’s sustainable long term performance and value creation for all stakeholders.

The Board and management regularly review the Company’s policies and practices to ensure that the Company continues to maintain and 
improve its governance standards by following the eight ASX Corporate Governance Principles detailed below.

Charters and policies referred to in this corporate governance statement are available on Troy’s website at www.troyres.com.au in the Corporate 
section under Corporate Governance.

This corporate governance statement is organised under headings reflecting the ASX Corporate Governance Principles.

Principle 1 - Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

The Board has adopted a formal Board Charter which establishes those matters reserved for the Board and authority delegated to management. 
The Board’s functions, as summarised in the Board Charter, include: 

• developing and setting the Company’s strategic direction in conjunction with management;

• overall review of performance against targets and objectives;

• ensuring the Company has adequate systems and internal controls together with appropriate monitoring of compliance activities; 

• approval and compliance with policies including health, safety and environment; and

• reporting to shareholders on the direction and performance of the Company.

Particular matters that are dealt with by the Board include significant investments, capital and funding proposals, mergers and acquisitions, 
budgets and plans, financial results and performance, dividends and issues relating to internal controls and risk management.

Day-to-day management of the Company’s affairs and the implementation of strategy and policy initiatives are formally delegated by the Board 
to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO is assisted in his role through an Executive Committee (Exco). Exco currently includes the CEO 
(Mr Paul Benson), the Director of Operations (Mr Ken Nilsson), the Vice President – Exploration and Business Development (Mr Peter Doyle), the 
Chief Operating Officer (Mr Andrew Storrie), the Chief Financial Officer (Mr David Sadgrove) and Company Secretary (Ms Stacey Apostolou).

As part of the Board’s oversight of senior management, all Company executives are subject to annual performance reviews. The performance 
of the CEO is evaluated by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The performance evaluation is conducted by way of a self-evaluation 
questionnaire that is completed in the first instance by the CEO and then reviewed and discussed with the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. The CEO reviews the performance of senior executives.  The CEO conducts a performance evaluation of these executives by 
having each executive complete a self-evaluation questionnaire which he then reviews together with the executive.  All senior executives, 
including the CEO, participated in a performance evaluation in relation to the year ended 30 June 2013.

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value

The Board is structured to facilitate the effective discharge of its duties and to add value through its deliberations. It seeks to achieve a Board 
composition with a balance of diverse attributes relevant to the Company’s operations and markets, including skill sets, background, gender, 
geography and industry experience. Details on each of the Directors, including experience, knowledge and skills and their status as an 
independent or non-independent Director, are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Independence

The Board has a non-executive Chairman and the roles of the Chairman and Managing Director are undertaken by different individuals. It is 
comprised of eight Directors, being five independent non-executive Directors, including the Chairman, one non-independent non-executive 
Director and two executive Directors. Mr John Jones is deemed not to be independent given that he is a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Independent Professional Advice

All Directors have the right to seek independent professional advice concerning any aspect of the Company’s operations or undertakings.  
Prior approval of the Chairman is required, but this is not to be unreasonably withheld. If the advice sought concerns the Chairman or is related 
to the Chairman, then the approval can be provided by one of the independent Directors.
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Retirement and Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and the Company’s Constitution, no Director (other than the Managing Director) may retain office for 
more than three years without submitting for re-election. 

The Company’s Constitution also requires that Directors, excluding the Managing Director, who have been appointed by the Board, must retire 
and stand for re-election at the next annual general meeting following their appointment.

Evaluating Board and Committee Performance

The Board, with the assistance of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, regularly monitors its performance and the performance of 
the Directors and Board Committees throughout the year. This may occur through an internal review led by the Chairman, or be performed with 
the assistance of external advisers as considered appropriate.

For the 2013 year, the Board undertook a review of the performance of all Directors. The review was led by the Chairman with the assistance 
of an independent external third party facilitator.  The review was based on a formal questionnaire followed by interviews with each of the 
Directors. The outcomes of the review were discussed and considered by the Directors.

Board Committees

The standing Committees of the Board are the Audit Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Each Committee is entitled 
to the resources and information it requires to carry out its duties, including direct access to advisers and employees. Each Committee reports 
its deliberations to the next Board meeting.

The Audit Committee consists of Mr Fred Grimwade (Chair), Mr Robin Parish and Mr Sean Harvey, all independent non-executive Directors. 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of Mr David Dix (Chair) and Mr Richard Monti, both independent non-executive 
Directors and Mr John Jones, a non-executive Director.

Committee Charters can be located on the Company’s website.

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision making

The Board’s policy is that the Directors and management should conduct themselves with the highest ethical standards. All Directors and 
employees are expected to act with integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and performance of the consolidated 
entity. A formal policy has been adopted by the Board as a guideline for the ethical activities of both the Company and of management.

Code of Conduct

The Corporate Code of Conduct describes standards for appropriate ethical and professional behaviour that all Directors, management and 
employees are encouraged to comply with when dealing with each other, shareholders, customers and the broader community. In addition to 
the Code of Conduct, the Company has introduced an Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy.

Trading in the Company’s Shares

To safeguard against insider trading, the Company’s Securities Trading Policy prohibits Directors and employees from trading the Company’s 
securities if they are aware of any information that would be expected to have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities. The policy 
also notes designated ‘black out’ periods during which Directors and senior executives are not allowed to trade in securities of the Company.

Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Diversity Policy which outlines the Company’s commitment to ensuring a diverse mix of skills and talent exists 
amongst its Directors, officers and employees, to enhance Company performance. The Diversity Policy addresses equal opportunities in the 
hiring, training and career advancement of Directors, officers and employees. The Board will proactively monitor the Company’s performance 
in meeting the standards and policies outlined in this Policy.

Measurable objectives in relation to the Diversity Policy have not yet been established by the Board. Notwithstanding this, women are 
encouraged to apply for roles and the Company is an equal opportunity employer.
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The Group workforce gender profile as at 30 June 2013 is set out in the following table:

2013 2012

No. employees No. women % No. employees No. women %
Non-executive directors 5 - 0 5 - 0

Executive and senior management 8 1 12.5 7 - 0

Other 539 50 9.3 518 48 9.3

Total 552 51 9.2 530 48 9.0

A copy of the Diversity Policy is on the Company’s website.

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

The Audit Committee assists the Board in the effective discharge of its responsibilities in relation to financial reporting and disclosure processes, 
internal controls, funding, financial risk and management, external audit and the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management framework.  
The Audit Committee Charter can be located on the Company’s website.

The composition and structure of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements of the ASX GC’s principles and recommendations. The names 
of the members of the Audit Committee, their qualifications and attendance at meetings of the Committee are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure

The Board has adopted a Policy on Continuous Disclosure. The policy raises awareness of the Company’s obligations under the continuous 
disclosure regime; establishes a process to ensure that information about the Company which may be market sensitive and which may require 
disclosure is brought to the attention of the person primarily responsible for ensuring that the Company complies with its continuous disclosure 
obligations in a timely manner and is kept confidential; and sets out the obligations of directors, officers, employees and contractors of the 
Company to ensure that the Company complies with its continuous disclosure obligations. The policy also outlines who is authorised to speak 
to the media, analysts, brokers, shareholders and other external parties; a person’s confidentiality obligations and the consequences of 
breaching the policy.  The policy is subject to annual review by the Board.

The Board has adopted Compliance Procedures to assist it to comply with its disclosure obligations. Under the Compliance Procedures,  
a Responsible Officer is appointed who is primarily responsible for ensuring the Company complies with its disclosure obligations. The 
duties of the Responsible Officer, together with the responsibilities of the Board and the Company Secretary, are set out in the Compliance 
Procedures. The Compliance Procedures are designed to ensure that information about the Company which may be market sensitive and 
which may require disclosure under Listing Rule 3.1 is promptly assessed to determine whether it requires disclosure and if it does, is 
given to ASX promptly and without delay. The Compliance Procedures also set out procedures to correct or prevent a false market in the 
Company’s securities; set out measures for safeguarding confidentiality of corporate information to avoid premature disclosure; and establish 
procedures for media contact and comment and external communications such as analyst briefings and responses to shareholder questions. 
The Compliance Procedures also provide guidance on drafting announcements to ensure that the Company’s announcements are accurate, 
complete and not misleading and presented in a clear and balanced way.

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are provided with all of the information necessary to assess the performance of the Company.  
To achieve this, the Company has a Shareholder Communication Policy which outlines the process through which the Company will endeavour 
to ensure timely and accurate information is provided equally to all shareholders.

In addition to releasing information to the ASX, the Company communicates to shareholders using a number of mediums, including the 
Company’s Annual General Meeting, the Company’s website, email notifications and in published reports. Shareholders are able to elect to 
receive email communications from the Company.

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk

The Board has adopted a Risk Management Policy. Under the policy, the Board delegates day-to-day management of risk to the CEO & 
Managing Director. The policy sets out the role of the CEO & Managing Director and others within the Company in relation to risk management. 
It also contains the Company’s risk profile and describes some of the policies and practices the Company has in place to manage specific 
business risks.
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The CEO & Managing Director is required to report on the progress of, including the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its 
material business risks, and on all matters associated with, risk management at least annually.

The Board is responsible for approving the Company’s policies on risk oversight and management and satisfying itself at least annually that 
management has developed and implemented a sound system of risk management and internal control.

The Board also receives a written assurance from the CEO & Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) that to the 
best of their knowledge and belief, the declaration provided by them in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on 
a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in relation to financial reporting risks.

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly

The Company’s policy is to reward executives with a combination of fixed remuneration and short and long term incentives. Non-executive 
Directors’ remuneration is paid as cash fees, applicable superannuation entitlements and Committee fees.

The Remuneration Report sets out details of the Company’s policies and practices for remunerating Directors, key management personnel 
and employees.

The names of the members of the Nomination and Risk Committee, their qualifications and attendance at meetings are set out in the 
Directors’ Report.

ASX Best Practice Recommendations

The table below contains a list of each of the ASX Best Practice Recommendations and whether the Company was in compliance with the 
recommendations at the end of the year. Where the Company considers that it is divergent from these recommendations, or that it is not 
practical to comply, there is an explanation of the Company’s reasons set out below the table:

complied Note
1.1 The entity has established the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to senior executives. ü

1.2 The entity has disclosed its process for evaluating the performance of senior executives. ü

1.3 The entity has provided the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 1. ü

2.1 A majority of the board are independent directors. ü

2.2 The chair is an independent director. ü

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer are not be exercised by the same individual. ü

2.4 The board has established a nomination committee. ü

2.5 The entity has disclosed the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its committees and 
individual directors.

ü

2.6 The entity has provided the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 2. ü

3.1 The entity has established a code of conduct and disclosed the code or a summary of the code. ü

3.2 The entity has established a policy concerning diversity and disclosed the policy or a summary of that 
policy. The policy includes requirements for the board to establish measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity for the board to assess annually both the objectives and progress in achieving them.

ü

3.3 The entity has disclosed in its annual report the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity 
set by the board in accordance with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving them.

X 1

3.4 The entity has disclosed in its annual report the proportion of women employees in the whole 
organisation, women in senior executive positions and women on the board.

ü

3.5 The entity has provided the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 3. ü

4.1 The board has established an audit committee. ü

4.2 The audit committee has been structured so that it:

• consists of only non-executive directors

• consists of a majority of independent directors

• is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the board

• has at least three members.

ü

4.3 The audit committee has a formal charter. ü

4.4 The entity has provided the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 4. ü
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5.1 The entity has established written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at senior executive level for that compliance and 
disclosed those policies or a summary of those policies.

ü

5.2 The entity has provided the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 5. ü

6.1 The entity has a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders and 
encourage their participation at general meetings and disclosed the policy or a summary of the policy.

ü

6.2 The entity has provided the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 6. ü

7.1 The entity has established policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and 
disclosed a summary of those policies.

ü

7.2 The board requires management to design and implement the risk management and internal control 
system to manage the entity’s material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are 
being managed effectively. The board has disclosed that management has reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the company’s management of its material business risks.

ü

7.3 The board has disclosed whether it has received assurances from the CEO (or equivalent) and the 
CFO (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with S.925A of the Corporations Act is 
founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

ü

7.4 The entity has provided the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 7. ü

8.1 The board has established a remuneration committee. ü

8.2 The remuneration committee is structured so that it:

• consists of a majority of independent directors

• is chaired by an independent chair

• has at least three members.

ü

8.3 The entity clearly distinguishes the structure of non-executive directors remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior executives.

ü

8.4 The entity has provided the information indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 8. ü

Note 1: The Company has adopted a Diversity Policy which includes the ability for the Board to set measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity 
that are appropriate for the Company.  Measurable objectives have not yet been established, however the Company makes its appointment decisions 
based on merit, by assessing whether a person’s skills and experience are appropriate for particular roles. It does not discriminate based on gender, age, 
ethnicity or cultural background.
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Shareholder Statistics
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 

Ordinary Share Capital
167,730,292 fully paid ordinary shares held by 8,678 shareholders.

1,183,000 employee options over ordinary shares held by 32 option holders.

61,460 options over ordinary shares held by three option holders. These options were issued pursuant to options exchange deeds as part of 
the Company’s takeover of Azimuth Resources Limited.

1,362,398 options held by Investec Bank (Australia) Limited.

318,000 performance shares held by five employees, which include 300,000 held by the Managing Director.

Distribution of Shareholders

Fully Paid Ordinary Employee Options
1-1,000 2,870 -

1,001-5,000 3,501 -

5,001-10,000 1,094 4

10,001-100,000 1,100 26

100,001 and over 113 2

8,678 32
Holding less than a marketable parcel 1,093 N/A

Substantial Shareholders

Ordinary Shareholder Number of Securities Person’s votes voting Power Percentage
Van Eck Associates Corporation 12,006,287 12,006,287 7.18%

Warrigal Pty Ltd 10,281,024 10,281,024 6.25%
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Twenty Largest Shareholders

Rank Name units % units
1 National Nominees Limited 23,430,943 13.97

2 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 19,503,243 11.63

3 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 9,095,438 5.42

4 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 8,536,235 5.09

5 Warrigal Pty Ltd 6,952,400 4.14

6 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited <Cash Income A/C> 6,482,764 3.86

7 Javelin Minerals Inc 4,141,530 2.47

8 Canadian Register Control 3,187,237 1.90

9 Macquarie Bank Limited <Metals & Energy Cap Div A/C> 2,853,440 1.70

10 UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 2,230,972 1.33

11 Goornong Gees Mining Limited 2,173,598 1.30

12 BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <DRP> 1,711,216 1.02

13 Greatcity Corporation Pty Ltd <Richard Monti A/C> 1,662,826 0.99

14 Azimuth Resources Limited <Dissenting Holders A/C> 1,467,597 0.87

15 Goldman Sachs Australia Nominee Holdings Pty Ltd <Accumulation Entrepot A/C> 1,414,600 0.84

16 Riverview Corporation Pty Ltd 1,323,987 0.79

17 Spar Nominees Pty Ltd 1,154,647 0.69

18 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited <NT-Comnwlth Super Corp A/C> 1,002,319 0.60

19 Marford Group Pty Ltd 899,220 0.54

20 Mr John Load Cecil Jones 737,707 0.44

Totals: Top 20 Holders of Ordinary Shares 99,961,919 59.60
Total Remaining Holders Balance 67,768,373 40.40
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Casposo Processing Plant Thickeners 

Casposo Processing Plant SAG Mill

30
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directors’ Report 

FOR ThE FinAnCiAL YEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2013

The Directors of Troy Resources Limited (“Company” or “Troy” or “Group”) present their annual financial report for the financial year ended 30 
June 2013. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:

Directors

The names and particulars of the Directors of the Company in office during or since the end of the financial year are:

Mr David R Dix, Independent Non-Executive Chairman, Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee B.Ec, LLB, Grad Dip 
(Tax Law) (aged 59) – appointed 28 January 2010 and as Chairman on 25 November 2010.

Mr Dix’s background is in economics, law and taxation and he is a Barrister and Solicitor in the High Court of Australia. He has held various 
positions with Shell Australia Limited and worked for 16 years in Corporate Advisory at both Macquarie Bank Limited and UBS AG specialising 
in the mining industry, including Head of Resources for Asia Pacific and in London as Head of Mining.

Mr Dix is also a non-executive director of Aquarius Platinum Limited since March 2004 and was previously a director and chairman of AED 
Oil Limited.

Mr Paul Benson, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director B.Sc in Geology, B.Eng in Mining, M.Sc in Management (London Business 
School) (aged 50) – Chief Executive Officer since 3 October 2007 and reappointed Managing Director on 13 September 2010. Previously a 
Director between 3 October 2007 and 27 November 2009.

Mr Benson has over 25 years’ experience in the mining industry having worked for RGC Limited, the Rio Tinto Group and BHP Billiton 
Limited in several locations including Australia, Portugal, the United States and South America. Before joining Troy, Mr Benson was the Chief 
Development Officer, Base Metals Division, for BHP Billiton Limited from 2004 to September 2007 and also the Vice President of Business 
Development, Base Metals Division, for BHP Billiton Limited, from 2001 until September 2007.

Mr Ken K Nilsson, Executive Director of Project Development B.Eng, Cert of Eng (aged 72) - appointed 8 May 1998.

Mr Nilsson joined Troy in 1997 and is currently Executive Director of Project Development. Mr Nilsson is a mining engineer with over 35 years 
international mine construction and production experience covering gold, base metals and coal. He was responsible for the development of 
Troy’s Western Australian operations at Sandstone. He then relocated to Brazil in 2002 to oversee construction of the Sertão Mine in Goias 
state. In 2007, Mr Nilsson led the team responsible for relocating the Sertão plant and development of the Andorinhas Mine in Para state, 
Brazil. Since 2009 Mr Nilsson has been based in San Juan, Argentina and managed the development and construction of Troy›s Casposo 
operation. Mr Nilsson is currently responsible for development of the Casposo underground mine and reviewing potential development 
options for the Company’s recently acquired West Omai project in Guyana.

Mr Gordon R Chambers, Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee up until his resignation B.Comm, LLB, Member of Bar – British Columbia, Canada (aged 52) – appointed 
3 April 2008 and resigned 29 August 2013.

Mr Chambers is a partner of Canadian law firm Cassel Brock & Blackwell LLP based in Vancouver. With over 25 years’ experience in the legal 
sector, Mr Chambers specialises in securities law. He has a particular focus on corporate finance for mining companies and has extensive 
experience advising dual-listed issuers, particularly Australian companies that are dual-listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Mr Chambers has previously served on the Securities Legal Advisory Committee of the British Columbia Securities Commission and on the 
Securities Advisory Committee of the Vancouver Stock Exchange. He is currently a member of the Listings Advisory Committee of the Toronto 
Stock Exchange.

Mr Fred S Grimwade, Independent Non-Executive Director, Member (and Chairman since 29 August 2013) of the Audit Committee  
B. Com, LLB (Hons), MBA (Columbia), FAICD, SF Fin, FCIS (age 55) - appointed 25 November 2010.

Mr Grimwade is a Principal and Executive Director of Fawkner Capital, a specialist corporate advisory and investment firm. He was a Director 
of AWB Limited from 2008 – 2010 and has held general management positions at Colonial Agricultural Company, the Colonial Group, Western 
Mining Corporation and Goldman, Sachs & Co. He has a broad range of experience in strategic management, mining, finance, corporate 
governance and law.
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Mr Grimwade’s directorships of other listed companies held in the three years immediately before the end of the financial year are as follows:

Position company Period of Directorship
Non-Executive Director Select Harvests Limited Since July 2010

Non-Executive Chairman CPT Global Limited Since October 2002

Non-Executive Director XRF Scientific Limited Since May 2012

Mr T Sean Harvey, Non-Executive Director, Member of the Audit Committee B.A (Hons), M.A, LLB, MBA (aged 54) – appointed 29 August 2013.

Mr Harvey has over 20 years mining industry experience and has worked for over 10 years in Investment Banking in North America for Nesbitt 
Burns (now BMO) and Deutsche Bank, primarily focused on the basic industry (mining) sector. For the last 12 years, Mr Harvey has held senior 
executive and board positions with various mining companies, accumulating a wealth of South American experience. From 2001 through 2006 
Mr Harvey was President and CEO of TVX Gold (Chile/Brazil) at the time of its sale to Kinross Gold, Atlántico Gold (Brazil) that was sold to 
Goldcorp Inc. and Orvana Minerals Corp. which operated in Bolivia. 

Mr Havey’s directorships of other listed companies held in the three years immediately before the end of the financial year are as follows:

Position company Period of Directorship
Non-Executive Director Perseus Mining Limited Since September 2009

Non-Executive Chairman Serabi Mining plc Since March 2011

Non-Executive Chairman Sarama Resources Ltd Since April 2010

Non-Executive Chairman Victoria Gold Corporation Since July 2007

Non-Executive Director Azimuth Resources Limited April 2012 to July 2013

Non-Executive Director Allied Gold Mining plc March 2010 to September 2012

Non-Executive Chairman Andina Minerals Inc December 2004 to January 2013

Mr John L C Jones, Non-Executive Director, Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee AusIMM, AICD (aged 69) - 
appointed 27 July 1988.

Mr Jones, a substantial shareholder of Troy, has over 40 years’ experience as a director of public companies. Past roles include as founder 
and Chairman of Jones Mining Ltd, and Chairman of both North Kalgurli Mines NL. He is a director of private company Hampton Transport 
Services Pty Ltd, a service company to the mining industry in Australia.

Mr Jones’ directorships of other listed companies held in the three years immediately before the end of the financial year are as follows:

Position company Period of Directorship
Non-Executive Chairman Anglo Australian Resources Limited Since February 1990

Founder and Chairman Altan Rio Minerals Limited Since November 2007

Founder and Chairman Altan Nevada Minerals Limited Since May 2010

Mr Richard Monti, Non-Executive Director, Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee B.Sc (Hons), Grad Dip Applied 
Finance and Investment, MAusIMM (aged 49) – appointed 29 August 2013.

Mr Monti has gained broad experience over a 26 year career working in the technical, commercial, marketing and financial fields of the 
international exploration and mining industry. In 2004 he founded Ventnor Capital Pty Ltd, a boutique consultancy firm which provides corporate 
advisory and investment banking services to junior and mid-cap listed resources companies. Mr Monti left Ventnor Capital in 2010 primarily to 
spend more time at Azimuth Resources Limited which was subsequently taken over by Troy.

Mr Monti’s directorships of other listed companies held in the three years immediately before the end of the financial year are as follows:

Position company Formerly Period of Directorship
Non-Executive Director Potash Minerals Limited Transit Holdings Limited Since December 2006

Non-Executive Director Poseidon Nickel Limited - Since April 2007

Non-Executive Director Pacifico Minerals Limited Jaguar Minerals Limited Since October 2009

Non-Executive Director Azimuth Resources Limited - November 2008 to July 2013

Non-Executive Director Triton Minerals Limited Triton Gold Limited August 2011 to September 2012

Non-Executive Director White Star Resources Limited Whinnen Resources Limited January 2007 to September 2011
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Mr C Robin W Parish, Independent Non-Executive Director, Member of the Audit Committee BA Hons. and MA from Oxford University 
(aged 63) – appointed 27 November 2009.

Mr Parish has been involved in Investment Management since 1971, and a Director of El Oro Ltd and its predecessor sister company The 
Exploration Co.plc since 1981. El Oro originated as a silver mine in Mexico, and managing its portfolio has developed a broad knowledge of 
mining across a diverse spread of metals and geographic locations. El Oro has intimately followed the progress of Troy for more than 10 years.

Company Secretary
Ms Stacey Apostolou, Company Secretary, B.Bus, CPA (aged 47).

Ms Apostolou was appointed as Company Secretary on 5 February 2013. Ms Apostolou is a finance executive with significant experience 
acting as Company Secretary and corporate Executive/Director for a number of ASX listed mining companies over the past 25 years.  
Ms Apostolou has been responsible for the corporate, treasury, finance, accounting and administration functions for these companies.

Mr David R Sadgrove, Joint Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer, B.Com Acc. & Fin. (UWA), ACA (Aust.) (aged 45).

Mr Sadgrove was appointed Company Secretary on 1 October 2008 and Chief Financial Officer in November 2008. He gained his Chartered 
accountant qualifications whilst employed with Ernst & Young (Australia, audit division) and has over 20 years’ experience in accounting and 
financial management of listed multinational corporations both within Australia and the United Kingdom.

Corporate Information

Troy is a limited liability public company which was incorporated in Victoria in 1984 and is domiciled in Australia with its registered office in 
Perth, Western Australia. The Company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) in 1987 and the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) 
in Canada in February 2008. The Company’s ordinary shares trade on the ASX and TSX under the code “TRY”.

Additional Company information can be found in Note 35 to the Financial Statements.

Information on Subsidiaries and group structure can be found in Note 29 to the Financial Statements.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of Troy Resources Limited and its controlled entities (the Group) during the year were gold and silver production 
through its operations at Andorinhas in Brazil and Casposo in Argentina. Exploration activities, principally for gold and silver, continued during 
the year concentrating primarily at Casposo. The Sandstone gold project located in Western Australia remained in care and maintenance until 
its sale in March 2013. 

Subsequent to year end, Troy successfully completed its off-market takeover offer for Azimuth Resources Limited (Azimuth) with its principal asset 
being the West Omai gold project in Guyana, South America. Further information can be found in Note 30 and 34 to the financial statements.

OPERATing And FinAnCiAL REviEw

Financial Results

The consolidated profit from ordinary activities after tax and non-controlling interests for the year ended 30 June 2013 was $18,590,000 (2012: 
$31,422,000). The profit for the year is after $8,836,000 of net exploration expenditure (2012: $8,624,000), depreciation and amortisation of 
$31,023,000 (2012: $32,001,000), and profit from discontinued operations of $2,455,000 (2012: loss of $1,227,000).

The basic earnings per share for the year was 20.5 cents per share (2012: 35.5 cents) and earnings of 20.4 cents per share on a fully diluted 
basis (2012: 35.0 cents).

Revenue from ordinary activities for 2013 was $202.7 million (2012: $208.6 million), a decrease of 3%.

Casposo generated revenues of $147.4 million (2012: $132.6 million) from its second year of full production, an 11% increase. Revenues from 
Andorinhas fell by 27% to $55.3 million (2012: $76.0 million) principally due to lower production arising from lower gold grades mined.

Ordinary activities generated a gross profit of $49.8 million (2012: $76.4 million), a 35% decrease. The decrease in gross profit was driven 
by a fall of 8% in production, with 127,060 gold equivalent ounces produced during 2013 (2012: 137,457 gold equivalent ounces) and by a 
decrease in gold and silver prices throughout the second half of the financial year.

Contributions to gross profit for the year across the two operating mines were Casposo $44.2 million (2012: $49.6 million) and Andorinhas  
$5.6 million (2012: $26.8 million).
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Profit for the year from discontinued operations generated $2.5 million (2012: $1.2 million loss) due to the sale of the Sandstone gold project 
to Southern Cross Goldfields Limited. Other Income was $1.7 million (2012: $2.2 million).

Total exploration expenditure for the financial year totalled $17.2 million (2012: $16.5 million), of which $8.4 million (2012: $7.9 million) was 
capitalised in relation to the Kamila South East extension at Casposo.

Finance costs decreased during the year to $1.4 million (2012: $3.3 million), due to the full repayment of the Investec Bank (Australia) Limited 
(Investec) debt facility. This facility was repaid six months ahead of schedule on 10 October 2012 and principal repayments during the year 
totalled $15.0 million.

As announced in April 2013, Troy entered into a new $40.0 million debt facility with Investec. This new facility has two tranches, a Revolving 
Corporate Loan Facility with a limit of $20 million to be used for general corporate and working capital purposes; and a Revolving Acquisition 
Loan Facility with a limit of $20 million to assist with the costs associated with the Azimuth takeover and ongoing work associated with 
completing studies for the West Omai project. The formal agreement was executed on 26 June 2013 and became available for draw down on 
2 July 2013.

In May, Troy entered into an Argentine debt facility of 12.0 million pesos ($2.4 million Australian dollar equivalent) with the Industrial and 
Commercial Bank of China (Argentina) S.A. (ICBC) which was fully drawn at 30 June 2013. This facility is repayable in nine equal instalments 
between May 2014 and May 2016.

Income tax expense totalled $15.4 million (2012: $24.1 million). The 2013 year included first payments of income tax in Argentina after utilising 
prior years carried forward income tax losses. Argentine export tax is recognised as a cost of sale, similar to royalties, as it is not considered 
an income tax.

Operating Review

For Troy the 2013 financial year has been a period of transition and positioning for future growth.

• Casposo completed its second year of production, commissioned a ball mill in series with the previously installed SAG mill and made 
significant advances in transitioning from open pit to underground, with first stope production forecast for first quarter of financial year 2014;

• Andorinhas transitioned from cut and fill to hand held shrinkage stoping to minimize dilution and the impact of an increasingly complex ore 
body at depth;

• Sandstone, previously held in care and maintenance, was sold to Southern Cross Goldfields Limited; and

• The off market takeover offer for Azimuth was announced, with Troy moving to compulsory acquisition subsequent to year end. It is expected 
that the Company will move its newly acquired West Omai project through to an investment decision in calendar 2014 providing for the next 
phase of its growth.

Total production for the financial year was 103,002 ounces of gold and 1,361,133 ounces of silver or 127,060 gold equivalent ounces (2012: 
119,621 gold ounces and 937,208 silver ounces or 137,457 gold equivalent ounces).

Casposo produced 69,314 ounces of gold (2012: 70,989) and 1,361,133 ounces of silver (2012: 937,208) or total gold equivalent ounces of 
93,372 (2012: 88,825), from the processing of 427,709 tonnes of ore at an average gold grade of 5.65 grams per tonne (2012: 315,670 tonnes 
at 8.00g/t) and silver grade of 122.75g/t (2012: 121.11g/t). 

Casposo’s cash costs, on a by-product basis, were US$563 per ounce (net of silver credits) (2012: US$404/oz) and on a co-product basis were 
US$825 per ounce (2012: US$654/oz). The increased stripping ratio in the open pit and local inflation has added to costs in the current year.

At Casposo, a 35% increase in mill throughput offset a 29% decrease in gold grade. However, the increased costs associated with higher 
mining and milling rates, and lower gold and silver prices, saw an 11% decrease in the project’s gross profit to $44.2 million. The previously 
announced delay in production from the high grade underground mine required the open cut to produce more than was originally planned.  
This resulted in an 18% increase in overburden removed, compared to last year, to maintain supply of ore to the plant.

The Andorinhas operation now principally comprises the Mamão underground mine with low grade stockpiles from the previously mined Lagoa 
Seca open pit used to supplement approximately 21% of the processing during the year (2012: 5%).

Andorinhas produced 33,688 ounces of gold for the year (2012: 48,632 ounces) at an average cash cost of US$799 per ounce (2012: US$571/
oz) from the processing of 246,346 tonnes of ore (2012: 256,119 tonnes) at an average grade of 4.63g/t (2012: 6.25g/t). The increased cost 
per ounce was principally driven by lower ounces produced with total costs at similar levels year on year.

At Andorinhas, lower grade and gold price saw gross profit fall 79% to $5.6 million. As the mine is nearing the end of its life, and the orebody 
is becoming increasingly complex with depth, it is transitioning from predominantly mechanised cut and fill to hand held shrinkage stoping in 
an effort to minimise dilution and maximise grade to the plant going forward.



DIREcTORS’ REPORT
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Troy Resources Limited36

Financial Review

At 30 June 2013, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of $26.1 million, of this $0.2 million is held as restricted cash deposits for bank 
guarantees and unpresented dividend cheques.

Troy also held gold and silver bullion ready for sale with a market value of $0.2 million and listed investments with a market value of $0.1 million.

As announced on 8 April 2013, the Company loaned $10.0 million to Azimuth via a convertible note facility. Subsequent to year end, on 2 July 
2013, Troy’s takeover offer for Azimuth was declared unconditional and the convertible notes became intercompany financing.

Investing activities consumed $71.7 million with $7.1 million utilised for Andorinhas underground development and $24.6 million invested 
in Casposo’s underground development and related infrastructure. Exploration expenditure of $8.4 million was capitalised adding to likely 
reserves at the Casposo project in Argentina. A further $22.3 million was used to purchase property, plant and equipment principally for 
Casposo’s underground mining operations and the second mill and $1.5 million was used to pay the power line commitment in Argentina. Troy 
loaned $10.0 million to Azimuth via convertible notes and $0.5 million was utilised for transaction costs relating to the Azimuth takeover offer. 
Troy received $2.2 million from the Sandstone sale and a further $0.5 million was received in relation to interest and equipment sales.

Financing activities consumed $16.0 million with $15.0 million used to repay the principal of the Investec facility and $0.6 million in related 
interest and costs. Troy also paid $6.7 million in cash dividends to shareholders. These outflows were offset by $4.0 million received from the 
exercise of unlisted employee options and $2.3 million received as proceeds from the ICBC debt facility in Argentina.

Operating activities generated $54.6 million in cash. The profit before income tax of $31.6 million is inclusive of non-cash expenses including 
$31.0 million in depreciation and amortisation and $0.8 million in share based payments expense. An overall decrease in net working capital 
due to increases in the amounts payable to suppliers, including Redpath the underground mining contractor in Argentina, further supported 
operating cash flows.

Troy continues to comply with the foreign currency controls in Argentina, which requires the repatriation of all sale proceeds from gold and 
silver produced in Argentina back to Argentina and to obtain prior approval from the Argentine Central Bank for payments to parties outside 
of Argentina. At 30 June 2013, Troy held $9.3 million (US$8.5 million) in overseas bank accounts pending repatriation to Argentina before any 
surpluses are available for remittance to Australia.

At the end of the year, the Company had no outstanding gold, silver or foreign currency hedge contracts.

Dividends

During the year, a dividend for 2012 of 10 cents per share was paid on 19 October 2012. The final disbursement included a combination of 
cash and an election to reinvest in shares through the Group’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan, with $6.67 million being paid out in cash and 
529,000 shares being issued at a price of $4.4883 per share. No dividend for the financial year 2013 has been declared to date.

Azimuth Resources Takeover & Costs

On 28 March 2013, Troy announced its takeover offer for the entire share capital of Azimuth to acquire the 1.6 million ounce Inferred Resource 
at the West Omai gold project in Guyana, South America. Troy gained effective control on 2 July 2013 when it declared its offer unconditional. 
As at 30 June 2013 Troy had incurred costs of $572,000 on the takeover of Azimuth and its controlled entities related primarily to due diligence 
costs, preparation and issue of the bidders statement and related legal and share registry costs. These costs have been expensed in the year 
reported. Total takeover costs incurred by both Troy and Azimuth, including both advising investment bank success fees and the cost of the 
compulsory acquisition process, are expected to total $5.1 million. Azimuth has expensed $1.0 million in the current reporting period. The 
remainder of the takeover costs will be expensed in the 2014 financial year.

Changes in State of Affairs

During the financial year Troy sold the Sandstone project, which was held as available for sale, on care and maintenance. All operations are 
now focussed in South America.

Subsequent to year end:

• Troy acquired Azimuth; and

• the underground operation at Casposo transitioned from contract miner to owner miner. The first underground stope firing took place during 
August 2013. Troy expects to see an increase in grade to the plant in the month of September 2013 and the full impact of underground 
production in the December 2013 quarter.
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There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity other than those referred to in the Financial Statements 
and notes thereto.

Significant Events after the Balance Date

There has not been any matter or circumstance, except for those matters referred to in Note 30 to the Financial Statements or noted above, 
that have arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected or may significantly affect, the operations of the Consolidated 
Entity, the results of the operations, or the state of the affairs of the Consolidated Entity in the future financial years. 

Future Developments

Troy is committed to pursuing growth through exploration, acquisition of new projects and/or corporate merger activity.  The Azimuth takeover 
closed in July 2013, with Troy moving to compulsory acquisition of the outstanding shares.  Azimuth’s key asset is the high grade West Omai 
project in Guyana. Troy is continuing with infill drilling of this resource and is targeting the release of a Pre-Feasibility Study in early 2014 and 
if positive, would look to move quickly to project construction.

Share Issues

During the year:

• 1,511,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following the exercise of employee options;

• 16,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued in accordance with performance rights entitlements; and

• 529,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued in accordance with the dividend reinvestment plan.

Share Options and Employee Performance Shares

During the financial year:

• Nil options over unissued shares were granted by Troy under the Employee Share Option Plan;

• 1,511,000 employee share options were exercised;

• Nil options lapsed or expired in accordance with their terms;

• 300,000 performance rights over unissued fully paid shares were granted by Troy under the Employee Performance Rights Plan to the 
Managing Director, following shareholder approval received at the November 2012 annual general meeting; and

• 16,000 performance rights converted into shares in accordance with their terms.

Details of share options and performance rights granted to Directors and Senior Management are included within the Remuneration Report.

Since the end of the financial year no options or share rights have been granted under the Employee Share Option Plan or Performance Rights Plan.

At the date of this report, there are a total of 1,183,000 unissued shares in Troy under option to employees at issue prices ranging from $2.14 
to $4.68 and 318,000 performance rights over fully paid ordinary shares which remain subject to hurdle prices of between $5.00 and $6.13.

The Company issued 1,362,398 share options over unissued shares with an exercise price of $3.67 and expiry of 26 June 2016 to Investec as 
part consideration for the establishment of loan facilities, on 26 June 2013.

On 9 July 2013, 61,460 share options over unissued shares in Troy with an exercise price of $0.569 and expiry of 13 August 2014 were issued 
pursuant to Options Exchange Deeds entered into with Azimuth optionholders.

No person entitled to exercise any of these options or performance rights had or have any rights by virtue of the options to participate in any 
share issue of any related corporation. For further information refer to Notes 24 and 25 to the Financial Statements.
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Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers

The Company has a signed Deed of Access, Insurance and Indemnity with every Director of the Company and key senior officers against a 
liability to another person, other than the Company or a related body corporate of the Company, provided that:

(a) the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 (including, but not limited to, Chapter 2E) are complied with in relation to the giving of the 
indemnity; and

(b) the liability does not arise in respect of conduct involving a lack of good faith on the part of the Director or Officer.

During the financial year, the Company paid premiums in respect of insurance policies covering the Directors of the Company, the Company 
Secretaries and all senior officers of the Company and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such a director, secretary 
or senior officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The level of cover was increased in the current year based on the 
Group’s increased market capitalisation and to broaden the cover in foreign jurisdictions. The amount of the premiums paid on the policies 
was $106,457 (2012: $50,641).

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or 
of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

Environmental Regulations

The Group is committed to a high standard of environmental performance and during the year has not received any fines or prosecutions 
under any environmental laws or regulations. The Group did not incur any reportable environmental incidents during the year.

Meetings of Directors

The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board Committee held during the year ended 30 June 2013, and 
the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were:

Board Meetings Audit committee Meetings
Nomination & Remuneration  

committee Meetings

Director held Attended held Attended held Attended
Mr D R Dix 16 16 - - 1 1

Mr P Benson 16 16 - - - -

Mr G R Chambers 16 16 3 3 1 1

Mr F S Grimwade 16 16 3 3 - -

Mr J L C Jones 16 16 - - 1 1

Mr K K Nilsson 16 15 - - - -

Mr C R W Parish 16 16 3 3 - -

Interest in the Shares and Options of the Company

The relevant interest of each Director in the share capital and options of the Company as at the date of this report is:

Directors

Number of Fully Paid Shares Performance 
RightsBeneficial Non-Beneficial

Mr D R Dix - 127,013 -

Mr P Benson 371,470 - 300,000

Mr K K Nilsson 330,239 - -

Mr F S Grimwade 80,000 - -

Mr J L C Jones 1,239,061 9,041,963 -

Mr C R W Parish 110,992 4,332,266 -

Mr R Monti 1,662,826 - -

Mr T S Harvey 178,507 - -
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Remuneration Report (Audited)

This report outlines the compensation arrangements in place for Directors and Senior Management of Troy Resources Limited (“Troy” or “the 
Company”). The individuals included in this Remuneration Report are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of Troy and its controlled entities (“the Group’), directly or indirectly including any Director (whether executive or 
otherwise) of the Group. The report is set out under the following main headings:

(a) Directors and Senior Management Details;

(b) Principles Used to Determine the Components and Amount of Compensation;

(c) Company Performance;

(d) Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management;

(e) Details of Share-based Compensation; and

(f) Employment Contracts.

(a) Directors and Senior Management Details

The Directors of the Company during or since the end of the year were:

 D R Dix  Non-Executive Chairman;
 P Benson  Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer;
 K K Nilsson Executive Director of Project Development (based in Argentina);
 G R Chambers  Non-Executive Director (resigned 29 August 2013);
 F S Grimwade Non-Executive Director;
 T S Harvey Non-Executive Director (appointed 29 August 2013);
 J L C Jones  Non-Executive Director;
 R Monti  Non-Executive Director (appointed 29 August 2013); and
 C R W Parish Non-Executive Director.
 
The term “Senior Management” is used in the Remuneration Report to refer to the following persons. Except as noted, the named persons held 
their current position for the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year:

 P J Doyle  Vice President – Exploration and Business Development (based in Canada);
 A D B Storrie Chief Operating Officer (based in Argentina) and;
 D R Sadgrove Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary.
 
During the year, the Group had subsidiaries in Argentina, Brazil and Canada where the duties of the Company Secretary, or its equivalent, have 
been assigned to a local legal firm to provide the relevant residential country support. In these cases there is no specific individual occupying 
the position of Company Secretary.

(b) Principles Used to Determine the Components and Amount of Compensation

(i) Remuneration Philosophy

The performance of the Group is dependent upon the quality of its Directors and Executives. To continue its growth, the Group must attract, 
motivate and retain highly skilled Directors and Senior Management.

Remuneration is set at a competitive level which is commensurate with the level of experience, skill, qualifications and duties of the person 
and set within the Group’s capacity to pay.

(ii) Remuneration Structure

In accordance with corporate governance best practice, the structure and remuneration review of Non-Executive Directors and Senior 
Management, including Executive Directors, is separate and distinct.

(iii) Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules, the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is determined 
from time to time by the Company’s shareholders at a General Meeting. The current determination was made at the General Meeting held on 
24 November 2011 when an aggregate remuneration of $800,000 per annum was approved.
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The Executive Directors, in the absence of the Non-Executive Directors, determine an appropriate allocation of this aggregate to be 
apportioned amongst the Non-Executive Directors. In determining an appropriate remuneration level, the Executive Directors consider reports 
from external consultants, the level of fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of comparable companies and the amount of time required to fulfil 
their duties to the shareholders.

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration is paid as cash fees, applicable superannuation entitlements and Committee fees. Although Non-
Executive Directors qualify to participate in the Company’s Employee Share Option Scheme, any allocation must be approved by the 
Shareholders in a general meeting and no such allocation has been made in the last seven years, in accordance with best practice Corporate 
Governance within Australia. There is no retirement benefit plan for Non-Executive Directors.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees and Committee fees payable during the financial year ended 30 June 2013 were as follows:

 Chairman:  $147,000 (plus 9.0% Superannuation)
 Non-Executive Directors: $87,200 (inclusive of 9.0% Superannuation)
 Committee chairman: $8,000  (no Superannuation)
 Committee member:  $5,000  (no Superannuation)

As previously announced, with effect from 1 July 2013, the Non-Executive Directors have agreed to take a 10% reduction in these fees.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2013 and 2012 is detailed on Pages 43 and 44 of this Report.

(iv) Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Company has a formally constituted Nomination and Remuneration Committee which is responsible for determining and reviewing 
remuneration for the Executive Directors and Senior Management. This Committee is composed of Mr D R Dix (Committee Chairman), Mr G R 
Chambers (resigned 29 August 2013), Mr J L C Jones and Mr R Monti (appointed 29 August 2013) all of whom are Non-Executive Directors 
of the Company.

The responsibilities and functions of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee include:

• Review the competitiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s Senior Management compensation programmes to ensure:

(a) the attraction and retention of Senior Management;

(b) the motivation of Company officers to achieve the Company’s business objectives; and

(c) to align the interest of key leadership with the long-term interests of the Company’s shareholders.

• Review trends in management compensation, oversee the development of new compensation plans and, when necessary, approve the 
revision of existing plans.

• Review the performance of Senior Management.

• Review and approve the Chairman’s and Chief Executive Officer’s goals and objectives, evaluate their performance in light of these corporate 
objectives, and set the compensation levels for Executive Directors to be consistent with Company philosophy.

• Review the salaries, bonus and other compensation for Senior Management. The Committee will recommend appropriate salary, bonus and 
other compensation to the Board for approval.

• Review and approve compensation packages for new Senior Management and termination packages for corporate officers as requested 
by management.

• Review and make recommendations concerning long-term incentive compensation plans, including the use of share options and 
performance rights.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee reviews salary packages on an annual basis, usually in September/October, backdated to  
1 July each year and at other times where a specific case is referred to it by the Board or management.
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(v) Executive Director and Senior Management Personnel Remuneration

The Consolidated Entity aims to reward Senior Management with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their qualifications, skills, 
position and responsibilities within the organisation.

To assist in determining the level and composition of remuneration, the Group subscribes to independent research reports which detail 
remuneration levels in the Australian mining industry for executive and general operating positions. The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee also has access to salary and remuneration reports from various human resource and recruitment agencies.

Remuneration consists of the following components:

(a) Fixed Remuneration.

(b) Variable Remuneration comprising:

(i) Short Term Incentives/Rewards; and

(ii) Long Term Incentives.

(c) Special Benefits.

(a)  Fixed Remuneration

Fixed Remuneration comprises the base pay of employees and includes their annual salary, superannuation and prescribed non-financial 
fixed benefits such as provision of a motor vehicle, car allowance etc.

Executives are offered a competitive salary package as this forms the base of their remuneration. Base salary is reviewed annually to 
ensure remuneration is competitive with the general market range.

(b)(i)  Variable Remuneration – Short Term Incentives/Rewards

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officer are both due annual bonuses under their respective employment contracts 
based upon the achievement of goals and objectives that have been set in consultation with the Remuneration Committee of the Board 
and on the Board’s assessment of their performance generally.

At the Boards discretion other Senior Management may also be paid cash bonuses based upon achievement of goals and objectives set 
by the Chief Executive.

(b)(ii) Variable Remuneration – Long-Term Incentives

Long-term incentives are predominantly provided through participation in the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan and Performance 
Rights Plan.

The objective of the Employee Share Option Plan and Performance Rights Plan is to reward employees in a manner which aligns their 
interests with those of the shareholders of the Company. Additional details of the Employee Share Option Plan and Performance Rights 
Plan can be found at Note 25 to the Financial Statements.

The Employee Share Option Plan and Performance Rights Plan is open to all employees and allocations are made at the discretion of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Board, in terms of both amounts and timing. In general, larger allocations are made to 
Senior Management who have a greater impact on the direction, management and performance of the Group.

Details of share options and performance rights granted to Directors and other Senior Management of the Group during the year are 
detailed in Section E of the Remuneration Report below. Since the end of the financial year, no share options or performance rights have 
been granted to Directors and Senior Management of the Group.

(c)  Special Benefits

The Consolidated Entity may grant a special benefit to an employee in certain circumstances. These special benefits may include house 
rental and/or relocation payment for employees that are being relocated to commence their employment with, or change position within, 
the Consolidated Entity’s operations. Benefits could also include payment of spouse or family travel when accompanying an executive 
on Company business.

Special Benefits are not considered to be a regular part of a Senior Manager’s remuneration, but are granted due to irregular special 
circumstances referable to the person’s employment or work with the Company. During 2013, $6,801 (2012, $32,662) in relocation costs 
were paid on behalf of Mr Doyle to establish the Group’s new satellite office in Toronto, Canada, including airfares for his wife and shipping 
and storage of personal goods.
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(vi) Services from Remuneration Consultants

During the year ended 30 June 2013, the Board engaged Oppeus International to make a remuneration recommendation to the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee in relation to the Chief Executive Officer’s total remuneration arrangements.  This recommendation included base 
remuneration, including salary and superannuation, for the 2013 financial year, as well as the structure of the short term and long term incentive 
schemes, including the number of performance rights granted to the Chief Executive Officer during the year, and the related vesting conditions.

The consideration payable for this engagement was $13,585, excluding GST.  During the financial year, Oppeus International provided no 
other services to the Group.

The Board has put in place procedures to ensure remuneration recommendations made by remuneration consultants are free from undue 
influence by those Executive Directors or members of Senior Management to whom the recommendation relates.  These procedures include:

• instructions for preparing remuneration recommendations are only issued to remuneration consultants by the Chairman of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee or another Non-Executive director;

• the role of employees in any engagement regarding a remuneration recommendation is limited to the provision of information and opinions 
on current and past practices and does not include any participation in the development of recommendations;

• remuneration recommendations by remuneration consultants are made directly to the Nomination and Remuneration Committee; and

• all remuneration recommendations made by remuneration consultants are required to include a declaration about whether the remuneration 
recommendation is free from undue influence by the Executive Directors or members of Senior Management to whom it relates.

With respect to remuneration recommendations made during the year and disclosed above, the procedures outlined above were adhered to, 
and hence the Board is satisfied that the remuneration recommendations made were free of undue influence by the Executive Directors or 
members of Senior Management to whom the recommendations related.

(c) Company Performance

The following table shows the performance of the Consolidated Entity over the past five years based on several key indicators:

Financial Years Ended 30 June

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Basic Earnings/(Loss) per Share (cents) 20.5 35.5 16.7 (8.0) 21.6(1)

Diluted Earnings/(Loss) per Share (cents) 20.4 35.0 16.5 (8.0) 21.6(1)

Shareholders’ Funds ($m) 145.9 132.3 109.7 129.2 114.9

Dividends per Share (cents) - 10.0 6.0 & 4.0(2) - 4.0

Net Profit/(Loss) Before Tax (A$m) 31.6 55.5 15.1 (6.9) 19.3

Net Profit/(Loss) After Tax & Non-Controlling Interests (A$m) 18.6 31.4 14.6 (6.8) 16.7

Operating Revenue (A$m) 202.7 208.6 102.5 75.2 75.4

Gold Equivalent Production (ozs) 127,060 137,457 76,983 61,453 61,786

Share Price at beginning of the year (A$/Share) $3.90 $3.48 $2.45 $1.35 $2.00

Share Price at end of the year (A$/share) $1.53 $3.90 $3.48 $2.45 $1.35

Market Capitalisation (A$m) 140 349 306 214 94

(1) Basic and Diluted Earnings/(Loss) per share have been retrospectively adjusted for 1 for 6 rights issue in November 2009. 
(2) Interim dividend for Financial Year 2011 paid 29 June 2011.

During the year ended 30 June 2013 certain performance rights were granted to Senior Management and performance rights previously 
granted were converted to ordinary shares upon satisfaction of the vesting conditions. Further details are recorded in Section E of the 
Remuneration Report.

Upon vesting, each performance right equates to one ordinary share. The performance rights are subject to various vesting conditions. One 
such vesting condition is that the share price must meet or exceed certain pre-defined share price targets for a continuous 10 day period. 
Should any of the vesting conditions fail to be achieved, the performance rights will not vest. Consequently there is a direct link between the 
creation of shareholder wealth and share based payment remuneration.
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(d) Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Compensation packages contain the following key elements:

(a) Short Term Employee Benefits: salary/fees, bonuses allowances and non-monetary benefits including the provision of fully maintained 
motor vehicles, insurance benefits;

(b) Post-employment benefits: including superannuation and prescribed retirement benefits; and

(c) Equity: share options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan or Performance Rights Plan as disclosed in Note 25 to the 
Financial Statements.

The following table discloses the compensation of the Directors and Other Senior Management Personnel of the Company:

2013 Short-term Employee Benefits

long Service 
leave (b)

$

Post-Employment Benefits

Equity  
Share Based  

Payments
$

Total
$Name

cash Salary 
& Fees

$

cash Bonus 
(a)

$

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits (c)

$

Super- 
annuation

$

Retirement 
Benefits

$
Non Executive Directors
D R Dix 155,000 - - - 13,230 - - 168,230

G R Chambers (1) 76,216 - - - - - - 76,216

F S Grimwade 85,000 - - - 7,200 - - 92,200

J L C Jones 85,000 - - - 7,200 - - 92,200

C R W Parish 92,200 - - - - - - 92,200

Sub Total 493,416 - - - 27,630 - - 521,046
Executive Directors
P Benson 541,284 165,000 30,865 17,126 48,716 - 315,660 1,118,651

K K Nilsson 440,000 90,000 - 13,627 30,211 - - 573,838

Sub Total 981,284 255,000 30,865 30,753 78,927 - 315,660 1,692,489
Other Senior Management
P J Doyle 342,881 46,821 4,509 13,042 2,264 - 153,746 563,263

A D B Storrie(2) 300,000 90,000 30,000 6,640 - - 33,615 460,255

D R Sadgrove 310,000 20,000 17,124 13,933 27,900 - 13,418 402,375

Sub Total 952,881 156,821 51,633 33,615 30,164 - 200,779 1,425,893
TOTAL 2,427,581 411,821 82,498 64,368 136,721 - 516,439 3,639,428

(1) Mr G R Chambers does not receive a fixed directors’ fee. He is remunerated at commercial hourly rates paid to his Canadian Law Practice for 
actual time spent in his capacity as a Director and Committee member. Refer also to Note 24(c) of the Annual Financial Statements “Related Party 
Transactions” for amounts paid to Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP.

(2) Mr Storrie receives an allowance of $30,000 for the education of his children, as part of his salary package.
 
Cash bonuses as a percentage of the total compensation are:

 P Benson  14.8%
 K Nilsson  15.7%
 P Doyle  8.0%
 A Storrie  19.6%
 D Sadgrove 5.0%

Notes (a) to (c) 2013
(a) Messrs Benson, Nilsson, Doyle, Storrie and Sadgrove were granted a cash bonus, following a review by the Remuneration Committee, which was 

reported and paid in 2012/2013. The bonus is in recognition of their contribution during 2011/2012 and was set in accordance with the criteria set out 
in section B above. The bonuses were paid in November 2012.

(b) Includes the value of non-cash long service leave expense accrued by the Company.
(c) Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as the provision of a fully maintained motor vehicle and fuel. The benefits reported include amounts paid 

for Fringe benefits tax, where applicable. Also includes the education allowance for Mr Storrie’s children and health and dental insurance for Mr Doyle. 
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2012 Short-term Employee Benefits

long 
Service 
leave (b)

$

Post-Employment Benefits

Equity Share 
Based  

Payments
$

Total
$Name

cash Salary 
& Fees

$

cash Bonus 
(a)

$

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits (c)

$

Super- 
annuation

$

Retirement 
Benefits

$
Non Executive Directors
D R Dix 155,000 - - - 13,230 - - 168,230

G R Chambers (1) 42,565 - - - - - - 42,565

F S Grimwade 85,000 - - - 7,200 - - 92,200

J L C Jones 85,000 - - - 7,200 - - 92,200

C R W Parish 92,200 - - - - - - 92,200

Sub Total 459,765 - - - 27,630 - - 487,395
Executive Directors
P Benson 500,000 143,820 37,061 32,052 45,000 - 38,288 796,221

K K Nilsson(2) 400,000 350,000 - 13,066 26,695 - 389,360 1,179,121

Sub Total 900,000 493,820 37,061 45,118 71,695 - 427,648 1,975,342
Other Senior Management
P J Doyle 275,020 125,000 - 14,890 53,558 - 110,821 579,289

D R Sadgrove 285,000 20,000 18,387 11,883 25,650 - 22,952 383,872

A D B Storrie(3) 135,000 - 15,000 6,201 - - 45,503 201,704

Sub Total 695,020 145,000 33,387 32,974 79,208 - 179,276 1,164,865
TOTAL 2,054,785 638,820 70,448 78,092 178,533 - 606,924 3,627,602

(1) Mr G R Chambers does not receive a fixed directors’ fee. He is remunerated at commercial hourly rates paid to his Canadian Law Practice for 
actual time spent in his capacity as a Director and Committee member. Refer also to Note 24(c) of the Annual Financial Statements “Related Party 
Transactions” for amounts paid to Lawson Lundell LLP and Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP.

(2) During the year Mr K Nilsson requested and was granted a cash payout of a significant portion of his annual leave and long service leave balances 
due, totalling $374,130. This amount relates to annual leave and long service leave accrued over the previous 15 years with the Company.

(3) Mr A D B Storrie was appointed to the role of Chief Operating Officer effective from 1 January 2012 and his remuneration since that date has been 
included above. Mr Storrie receives an allowance for the education of his children as part of his salary package.

Cash bonuses as a percentage of the total compensation are:

 P Benson  18.1%
 K Nilsson  29.7%
 P Doyle  21.6%
 D Sadgrove 5.2%

Notes (a) to (c) 2012
(a) Messrs Benson, Nilsson, Doyle and Sadgrove were granted a cash bonus, following a review by the Remuneration Committee, which was reported 

and paid in 2011/2012. The bonus is in recognition of their contribution during 2010/2011 and was set in accordance with the criteria set out in section 
B above. The bonuses were paid in December 2011 at the discretion of the Board. Mr Nilsson’s bonus was in relation to the successful construction 
and commissioning of the Casposo plant in Argentina, $200,000 was paid in the current financial year and the balance of $150,000 is due in October 
2012 subject to Mr Nilsson remaining an employee of the Group. Mr Doyle’s bonus was in relation to exploration success at Casposo in Argentina 
with additional underground resources identified.

(b) Includes the value of non-cash long service leave expense accrued by the company.
(c) Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as the provision of a fully maintained motor vehicle and fuel. The benefits reported include amounts 

paid for Fringe benefits tax, where applicable. Also includes the education allowance for Mr Storrie’s children.
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(e) Value of Performance Rights/Options Issued to Key Management Personnel

The following Performance Rights/Options were granted, vested, exercised or lapsed in relation to Directors and Senior Management during 
the 2013 year:

2013 Performance Rights/ 
Options Granted

Options and Rights Exercised Options 
and Rights 

vested

Options 
lapsed

value of 
Rights/
Options 

included in 
remuneration 
for the year (2)

($)

Percentage  
of total 

remuneration 
for the year 

that consists 
of rights/ 

options
(%)Name

Number 
granted

(No.)

value 
at grant 

date(1)

($)

Number 
exercised

(No.)

Amount 
paid on 

exercise
($)

Fair 
value at 
exercise 

date(1)

($)

Number 
vested 

during the 
year
(No.)

Number 
lapsed

(No.)
P Benson 300,000 774,009 800,000 2,384,000 1,252,000 - - 315,660 28.2%

K K Nilsson - - 300,000 1,053,000 398,000 - - - -

P J Doyle - - 156,000 198,065 242,275 90,000 - 153,746 26.6%

D R Sadgrove  - - 106,000 135,710 333,130 6,000 - 13,418 3.3%

A D B Storrie - - - - - 77,000 - 33,615 7.3%

Total 300,000 774,009 1,362,000 3,770,775 2,225,405 173,000 - 516,439
 
Value of options – basis of calculation:
(1) The total value of options granted, exercised and lapsed is calculated based on the following:

• Fair value of the right/option at grant date multiplied by the number of options granted during the year;
• Fair value of the option at the time it is exercised multiplied by the number of options exercised during the year; 
• Fair value of the option at the time of lapse multiplied by the number of options lapsed during the year.

(2) The total value of options included in compensation for the year is calculated in accordance with Accounting Standards. This requires the following:
• The value of the options is determined at grant date and is included in remuneration on a proportionate basis as vesting occurs.
• The options vest over a period of time, therefore, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 2 “Share Based Payment” only the portion of 

the total fair value of the options at vesting date is included in remuneration for the financial year.
 
During the financial year, the following share-based payments arrangements for Executive Directors and Senior Management were in existence:

Option Series Grant Date Expiry Date Grant Date Fair value (i) Final vesting Date (ii)

Issued 28 November 2007 28 November 2007 3 October 2012 $1.18 3 October 2011

Issued 7 October 2008 7 October 2008 7 October 2012 $0.23 7 October 2011

Issued 17 June 2009 17 June 2009 17 June 2013 $0.42 17 June 2012

Issued 17 August 2009 17 August 2009 17 August 2013 $0.61 17 August 2012

Issued 5 August 2010 5 August 2010 5 August 2014 $1.05 5 August 2013

Issued 24 November 2011 24 November 2011 7 June 2014 $1.30 7 June 2012

Issued 28 November 2011 28 November 2011 28 November 2015 $1.37 28 November 2014

Issued 9 January 2012 9 January 2012 9 January 2016 $1.35 9 January 2015

Performance Right Series Grant Date Expiry Date Grant Date Fair value (i) Final vesting Date (ii)

Issued 9 September 2010 9 September 2010 9 September 2014 $1.71 9 September 2014

Issued 28 November 2011 28 November 2011 28 November 2015 $3.12 28 November 2015

Issued 29 November 2012 29 November 2012 12 October 2016 $2.58 12 October 2016

(i) Fair value at grant has been calculated on a weighted average basis.
(ii) For details of each vesting tranche refer Note 25 of the financial statements.

Share options are subject to tranche vesting dates. These options lapse if the holder ceases to be an employee or Director of the Company or 
its associated body corporate, except in certain circumstances.

Performance rights entitle the holder to fully paid ordinary shares issued for $nil consideration, subject to the holder remaining an employee or 
Director of the Company or its associated body corporate, and exceeding hurdle price conditions as referred to in Note 25 of the financial statements.
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(f) Employment Contracts

The only Directors or members of Senior Management with an employment contract as at 30 June 2013 are Mr Benson, Mr Doyle and Mr Storrie.

Mr Benson is the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Troy having been appointed to that role on 3 October 2007. Mr Benson 
resigned as a Director of Troy on 27 November 2009 and was reappointed on 13 September 2010.

The major provisions of his contract are as follows:

• no fixed term;

• base salary of $541,284 per annum, effective 1 July 2012 plus superannuation contributions of 9% of salary (2014: 9.25%). The base salary 
is to be reviewed effective 30 June every year. Based on recent market conditions, Mr Benson voluntarily agreed to a 25% reduction in his 
base salary to $405,963 plus 9.25% superannuation for the 2014 financial year, after which time his salary will revert to previous levels;

• may receive a cash bonus of up to 30% of his salary upon the achievement of certain pre-determined goals and objectives set in consultation 
with the Board;

• may terminate his employment with the Company upon giving six months’ notice in writing to the Company; and

• shall receive a termination benefit from the Company, if he is terminated for reasons other than serious misconduct, equal to the cash 
equivalent of six months of his base salary as at the date of termination.

Mr Doyle is the Vice President of Exploration and Business Development of Troy and was appointed to that role on 18 July 2005. When the 
Group relocated Mr Doyle to establish the satellite office in Toronto, Canada, Mr Doyle, renegotiated an employment contract effective from 1 
January 2012, which superseded his letter agreement. Key terms:

• no fixed term;

• private health and dental insurance provided; and

• may terminate his employment with the Company upon giving one months’ notice in writing to the Company.

Mr Storrie was appointed Chief Operating Officer of Troy from 1 January 2012. Mr Storrie’s original contract is dated 16 July 2009, with 
remuneration and bonus levels revised annually by amending letter. Key terms:

• no fixed term;

• may receive a cash bonus to a maximum of $90,000 per annum subject to achievement of key performance objectives set with the Board; and

• may terminate his employment with the Company upon giving three months’ notice in writing to the Company.

All other Executive Directors and members of Senior Management are on letter employment agreements which provide for one months’ notice 
of termination by either party, except in the case of serious misconduct where the Company may terminate immediately.

Based on recent market conditions, Messrs Nilsson, Doyle, Storrie and Sadgrove voluntarily agreed to a 10% reduction in their base 
salary and superannuation for the 2014 financial year, after which time their salaries will revert to previous levels.

Non-Audit Services

The auditor of the Company and its subsidiaries is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The Company has a policy in accordance with Corporate 
Governance best practice that the tax services and other general accounting advice and services, should not be performed by the Company’s 
auditor. However, the Company may employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise 
and experience with the Company and/or the Consolidated Entity are important and closely related to their work as auditor of the Company.

The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of non-audit 
services provided do not compromise the independence of the auditor.

A copy of the auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 48.

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for audit and non-audit services provided during the financial year are outlined in Note 23 
to the Financial Statements.
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Rounding of Amounts

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order 
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the Financial Report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed at West Perth, Western Australia, this 26th day of September 2013 in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant 
to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors of Troy Resources Limited

D Dix
Non-Executive Chairman
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Auditor’s independence declaration
FOR ThE FinAnCiAL YEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2013



Annual Report 2013 49

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
FOR ThE FinAnCiAL YEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2013

Notes
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
Continuing operations
Revenue 3 202,715 208,581

Cost of sales (152,921) (132,177)

Gross Profit 49,794 76,404

Other income 3 1,730 2,215

Exploration expenses (net) (8,836) (8,624)

Administration expenses (8,364) (7,992)

Other expenses – Corporate (1,393) (1,001)

Finance costs (1,358) (3,290)

Impairment of financial assets - (938)

Profit before income tax expense 4 31,573 56,774

Income tax expense 5 (15,438) (24,125)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 16,135 32,649

Discontinued Operations
Profit / (Loss) for the year from discontinued operations 6 2,455 (1,227)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 18,590 31,422

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent 18,594 31,438

Non-controlling interests (4) (16)

18,590 31,422

Earnings Per Share (EPS)
From continuing and discontinued operations
Basic EPS (cents) 20(a) 20.5 35.5

Diluted EPS (cents) 20(b) 20.4 35.0

From continuing operations
Basic EPS (cents) 20(a) 17.8 36.8

Diluted EPS (cents) 20(b) 17.7 36.4

Notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 54 to 105.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss  
and Other Comprehensive income 
FOR ThE FinAnCiAL YEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2013

Notes
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
Profit for the year 18,590 31,422

Other comprehensive income 

Items that may be reclassified to Profit or Loss

Changes in value of available for sale assets (62) 666

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (4,342) (8,618)

Other comprehensive income (4,404) (7,952)

Total comprehensive income for the year 14,186 23,470

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 14,190 23,489

Non-controlling interests (4) (19)

14,186 23,470

Notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 54 to 105.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FOR ThE FinAnCiAL YEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2013 

Notes
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 7 26,086 58,922

Other receivables and prepayments 8 23,854 14,604

Inventories 9 20,363 17,143

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 70,303 90,669

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 11 57,159 46,422

Mining properties 12 66,143 43,502

Exploration Properties 13 - 1,612

Other receivables 8 2,138 3,102

Other financial assets 10 10,256 134

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 135,696 94,772

TOTAL ASSETS 205,999 185,441

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 14 32,722 15,716

Current tax payables 5 9,881 7,752

Provisions 15 3,034 3,173

Borrowings 16 270 14,227

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 45,907 40,868

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables 14 860 2,267

Deferred tax liabilities 5 6,151 7,029

Provisions 15 5,058 3,005

Borrowings 16 2,163 -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,232 12,301

TOTAL LIABILITIES 60,139 53,169

NET ASSETS 145,860 132,272

EQUITY
Issued Capital 17 109,695 101,804

Reserves 18 (41,349) (37,501)

Retained earnings 19 77,773 68,224

Parent interest 146,119 132,527

Non-controlling interests (259) (255)

TOTAL EQUITY 145,860 132,272

Notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 54 to 105.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR ThE FinAnCiAL YEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2013

Issued
capital
($’000)

Available 
for Sale
Reserve

($’000)

Share 
Based 

Payment 
Reserve

($’000)

Foreign  
currency  

Translation 
Reserve

($’000)

Retained  
Earnings

($’000)

Attributable  
to Equity  
holder of 

Parent
($’000)

Non- 
controlling

Interest
($’000)

TOTAl
EQuITY
($’000)

Balance at 1 July 2012 101,804 - 4,376 (41,877) 68,224 132,527 (255) 132,272
Profit / (Loss) for the year - - - - 18,594 18,594 (4) 18,590

Changes in fair value of 
available-for-sale assets, 
net of tax

- (62) - - - (62) - (62)

Exchange differences 
on translation of foreign 
operations

- - - (4,342) - (4,342) - (4,342)

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - (62) - (4,342) 18,594 14,190 (4) 14,186

Issue of fully paid shares - - - - - - - -

Issue of fully paid shares 
on conversion of options

5,485 - (1,492) - - 3,993 - 3,993

Issue of fully paid shares on 
conversion of performance 
rights

29 - (29) - - - - -

Issue of fully paid shares 
for dividends reinvestment 
plan

2,377 - - - - 2,377 - 2,377

Issue of options to Investec - - 1,256 - - 1,256 - 1,256

Share-based payments - - 821 - - 821 - 821

Dividends payable / paid - - - - (9,045) (9,045) - (9,045)

Balance at 30 June 2013 109,695 (62) 4,932 (46,219) 77,773 146,119 (259) 145,860

Balance at 1 July 2011 97,596 (666) 4,146 (33,262) 42,103 109,917 (236) 109,681

Profit / (Loss) for the year - - - - 31,438 31,438 (16) 31,422

Changes in fair value of 
available-for-sale assets, 
net of tax

- 666 - - - 666 - 666

Exchange differences 
on translation of foreign 
operations

- - - (8,615) - (8,615) (3) (8,618)

Total comprehensive 
income for the year

- 666 - (8,615) 31,438 23,489 (19) 23,470

Issue of fully paid shares - - - - - - - -

Issue of fully paid shares 
on conversion of options

3,070 - (697) - - 2,373 - 2,373

Issue of fully paid shares on 
conversion of performance 
rights

74 - (74) - - - - -

Issue of fully paid shares for 
dividends reinvestment plan

1,064 - - - - 1,064 - 1,064

Share-based payments - - 1,001 - - 1,001 - 1,001

Dividends payable / paid - - - - (5,317) (5,317) - (5,317)

Balance at 30 June 2012 101,804 - 4,376 (41,877) 68,224 132,527 (255) 132,272

Notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 54 to 105.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FOR ThE FinAnCiAL YEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2013

Notes
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers 197,501 205,737

Payments to suppliers and employees (116,363) (104,633)

Proceeds from sundry income 53 80

Government royalties and export taxes paid (13,204) (13,508)

Income taxes paid (13,352) (10,694)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 32(b) 54,635 76,982

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for property, plant and equipment (22,332) (7,462)

Payments for mine and development properties (31,682) (9,022)

Payments for exploration properties capitalised (8,366) (7,876)

Payments for power line commitments (1,565) (1,523)

Net cash inflow from disposal of Sandstone assets 6 2,214 -

Payments to acquire convertible notes (10,000) -

Payments associated with Azimuth Resources takeover (494) -

Interest received 289 558

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 256 231

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (71,680) (25,094)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Borrowings 2,308 -

Repayment of Borrowings (15,000) (15,000)

Payments of financing costs (637) (3,153)

Proceeds from issues of equity securities 3,997 2,373

Dividends paid – members of parent entity (6,672) (4,727)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (16,004) (20,507)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (33,049) 31,381

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 58,922 27,941

Effects of exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currencies 213 (400)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 32(a) 26,086 58,922

Notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 54 to 105.
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notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FOR ThE FinAnCiAL YEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2013

1. Summary Of Accounting Policies

Statement of Compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comply with other requirements of the law. 

The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of Troy Resources Limited (“Company” or “Group”). For the purposes 
of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity. Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting 
Standards. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes of the company and the Group 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors at a meeting held on 26 September 2013.

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain financial instruments that are 
measure at revalued amounts of fair values, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair values 
of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order 
amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

Income and expense of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Total comprehensive 
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used 
by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control are accounted for as equity transactions. 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in 
the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration 
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the 
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of 
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. When assets of the subsidiary are carried at 
revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity, the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had 
directly disposed of the relevant assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by applicable 
Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on 
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ or, when applicable, the 
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.
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Comparative Financial Information

The following comparative financial information has been reclassified to aid comparability with the current year, and more appropriately reflect 
the nature of the items concerned. None of the adjustments affect profit before or after tax or net assets.

Canadian office administration costs of $349,000 have been reclassified from costs of sales to administration expenses for the year end 30 June 2012.

Sandstone holding costs of $1,227,000 have been reclassified from care and maintenance expenses to discontinued operations for the year 
end 30 June 2012.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis 
of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

The following are the key accounting judgements and assumptions, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date 
and concerning the future, that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and/or have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

Ore Reserve Estimates

Estimates of recoverable quantities of ore reserves include assumptions regarding commodity prices, exchange rates, discount rates, and 
production costs for future cash flows. It also requires interpretation of complex and difficult geological models in order to make an assessment 
of the size, shape, depth and quality of resources and their anticipated recoveries. The economic, geological and technical factors used to 
estimate ore reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported ore reserves can impact mining properties carrying values, 
property, plant and equipment carrying values, the provision for restoration and the recognition of deferred tax assets, due to changes in 
expected future cash flows. Ore reserves are integral to the amount of depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged to the income 
statement and the calculation of inventory.

Rehabilitation Obligations

The Consolidated entity estimates the future removal costs of mine operations disturbances at the time of installation of the assets and 
commencement of operations. In most instances, removal of assets occurs many years into the future. This requires judgemental assumptions 
regarding removal date, the extent of reclamation activities required the engineering methodology for estimating cost, future removal 
technologies in determining the removal cost, and asset specific discount rates to determine the present value of these cash flows.

Significant Accounting Policies

The following significant policies have been adopted in the preparation of the Financial Report:

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and money market investments readily convertible to cash within two working days, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are carried at the principal amount. Interest is recognised as income or expense as it accrues.

(b) Loans and Receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as 
‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

(c) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Ore stockpiles, gold in circuit, dore and bullion are valued applying 
absorption costing. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs 
necessary to make the sale.
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(d) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, Plant and Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings and leasehold property are depreciated/amortised using the straight-line or 
reducing balance method over their estimated useful lives. Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or from the time 
an asset is completed and held ready for use.

The depreciation and amortisation rates used for each class of asset are based on the following assessment of useful lives:

• Plant and equipment 3-7 years

• Motor Vehicle  2-5 years

• Buildings   5-7 years

Depreciation is not charged on land. Buildings are recorded at amortised cost.

Mining Assets

Mining Assets represent the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the 
Consolidated Entity and mining properties in relation to areas of interest.

Mining Exploration

Refer to 1(f) below. If it is established that a project has reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically 
recoverable reserves, exploration and evaluation costs ceases and the accumulated expenditures are transferred to mining development properties.

Mining Development Properties

Refer to 1(e) below. Development costs related to an area of interest where right of tenure is current are carried forward to the extent that they are 
expected to be recouped through sale or successful exploitation of the area of interest. If an area is subsequently abandoned or the Directors 
believe that it is not commercial, any accumulated costs in respect of that area are written off in the financial period the decision is made.

(e) Mining Development Properties

Where mining of a mineral resource has commenced, the accumulated costs are transferred to mine properties. Amortisation is first charged 
on new mining ventures from the date of first commercial production.

Amortisation of mine property costs is provided on the unit of production basis. The unit of production basis results in an amortisation charge 
proportional to the depletion of the estimated economically recoverable ore reserves. The unit of production basis can be on a tonnes or ounce 
depleted basis.

(f) Mining Exploration Properties

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Consolidated Entity is accumulated separately for each prospect 
area. Such expenditure comprises net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead expenditure, but does not include general 
overheads or administrative expenditure not having a specific nexus with a particular prospect area. Each area of interest is limited to a size 
related to a known or probable mineral resource capable of supporting a mining operation.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each prospect area is fully written off in the financial year in which it is incurred, unless its recoupment 
out of revenue to be derived from the successful development of the prospect, or from sale of that prospect, is reasonably assured.

The recoverable amount of each prospect area is assessed annually by the Directors. Where the carrying value of a prospect is in excess of 
its estimated recoverable amount, the carrying value is written down to its recoverable amount.

When a prospect area is abandoned, any expenditure carried forward in respect of that area is written off to profit and loss. Expenditure is not 
carried forward in respect of any prospect area unless the economic entity’s rights of tenure to that area are current.

Once a development decision has been taken, all exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of the prospect area is transferred to 
“Mining Development Properties”.
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(g) Financial Assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require 
delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

The Group has classified certain shares and options as other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets held for 
trading purposes are classified as current assets and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Available-For-Sale Financial Assets

Certain shares held by the Group are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes 
in fair value are recognised directly in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve, until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be 
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is included in profit or 
loss for the period.

(h) Accounts Payable

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Consolidated Entity becomes obliged to make future payments resulting 
from the purchase of goods and services.

(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the 
Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash 
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value 
of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(j) Employee Benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, and sick leave 
when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected 
to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of long term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

Payments to defined contribution superannuation plans are recognised as an expense when incurred.

(k) Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at amortised 
cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period 
of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method.

Interest and ancillary costs incurred in connection with borrowings for the development of specific assets are deferred and amortised or 
depreciated over the life of the project. 

(l) Income Tax

Current Tax

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for the 
period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current tax for 
current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).
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Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items. In 
principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised 
if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business 
combination), which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to 
taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures except where 
the Consolidated Entity is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they 
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and liability giving 
rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company/Group 
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to items credited or debited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity.

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group under Australian taxation law. Troy 
Resources Limited is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group. Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising 
from temporary differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members 
of the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within the group’ approach by reference to the carrying amounts in the separate 
financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying under tax consolidation. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax 
assets arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the company 
(as head entity in the tax-consolidated group).

(m) Foreign Currencies

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each 
group entity are expressed in Australian dollars (‘$’), which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the 
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair 
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

• exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are included in 
the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings; 

• exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

• exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely 
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income 
and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into 
Australian dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control 
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss 
of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that 
operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate 
share of accumulated exchange differences are reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other 
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or 
joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange 
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

(n) Revenue Recognition

Sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of mineral production is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

(i) the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

(ii) the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over 
the goods sold;

(iii) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(iv) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

(v) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

(o) Dividend and Interest Income 

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established (provided that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably). 

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

(p) Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) or value added tax (VAT), except:

(i) where the amount of GST/VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST/VAT.

The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. Cash flows 
are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST/VAT component of the cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation office is classified as operating cash flows.

(q) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take 
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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(r) Share-Based Payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Employee Share Option Plan or Performance Rights Plan.

The fair values of options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan are recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The fair value of the options are calculated at the date of grant using a Binomial model and allocated to each reporting 
period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s 
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations. Upon the exercise of options, the 
balance of the share-based payments reserve relating to those options is transferred to share capital.

Share-based borrowing costs are recognised in equity at fair value at the date of inception, and are offset against the applicable debt.

Performance Shares

The fair values of rights granted under the Employee Performance Rights Plan are recognised as an employee benefit expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the unissued fully paid shares is calculated at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo 
model and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The expected life used in the model 
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, hurdle price restrictions, and behavioural 
considerations. Upon the vesting, the balance of the share-based payments reserve relating to those rights is transferred to share capital.

(s) Financial Liabilities and Equity Instruments Issued by the Group

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added 
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Classification as Debt or Equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity 
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity.

No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ (Fair value through the profit or loss) or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial Liabilities at FVTPL

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern 
of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is 
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about 
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ 
permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.



NOTES TO ThE cONSOlIDATED FINANcIAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Annual Report 2013 61

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognised in profit or loss. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ 
line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 31.

Other Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings and trade and other payables, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised 
on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in 
profit or loss.

(t) Business Combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is 
measured at fair value which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred 
by the Group to the former owners of the acquire and the equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. 
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance 
with AASB 112 ‘Income Taxes’ and AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’ respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the 
Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquire are measured in accordance with AASB 2 ‘Share-based 
Payment’ at the acquisition date; and 

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 ‘Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations’ are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, 
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in 
the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised 
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction by transaction basis. Other types 
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another Standard.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Changes in the fair value of the 
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments 
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement 
period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments 
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent 
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or liability 
is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with AASB 139, or AASB 137 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets’, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at 
the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts 
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the 
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during 
the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

(u) Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the non-current 
asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should 
be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are 
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in 
its former subsidiary after the sale. 

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.

(v) Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets Other Than Goodwill

At the end of each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent 
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable 
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they 
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit (CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss immediately.

(w) Earnings Per Share

Basic Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity for the 
reporting period, after excluding any costs of servicing equity (other than ordinary shares and converting preference shares treated as 
ordinary shares for EPS calculation purposes), by the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company, adjusted for any 
bonus issue.

Diluted Earnings Per Share

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic earnings, adjusted by the after tax effect of financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the effect on revenues and expenses of conversion to ordinary shares associated with dilutive potential shares, by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares adjusted for any bonus issue.

(x) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group is exposed to changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices from its activities. The Group may use 
forward foreign exchange contracts, forward commodity exchange contracts and put and call options to hedge its foreign exchange rate and 
commodity risk. Derivative financial instruments are not held for speculative purposes.

The Group currently and throughout the year did not hold any foreign exchange or commodity hedge contracts.
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Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their 
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is 
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the 
hedge relationship.

Embedded Derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their 
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Hedge Accounting

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-derivatives in respect of foreign 
currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations. Hedges of foreign exchange 
risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges. At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the 
relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking 
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging 
instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

Fair Value Hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in profit or loss immediately, 
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value 
of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in profit or loss in the line item 
relating to the hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged 
item arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.

Cash Flow Hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when 
the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast transaction 
that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-
financial asset or non-financial liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. 
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Hedges of Net Investments in Foreign Operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of foreign 
currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in 
the ’other gains and losses’ line item.

Gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge accumulated in the foreign currency translation 
reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation.
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2. Adoption of new and Revised Accounting Standards
In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. Details of the impact of the 
adoption of these new accounting standards are set out in the individual accounting policy notes set out below. The Group has also adopted 
the following Standards as listed below. Adoption of these standards has had no impact on the Group’s Financial Statements:

Standards Affecting Presentations and Disclosures

Amendments to AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’

The amendment (part of AASB 2011-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income’ introduce new terminology for the statement of comprehensive income and income statement. Under the amendments to AASB 
101, the statement of comprehensive income is renamed as a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the income 
statement is renamed as a statement of profit or loss. The amendments to AASB 101 retain the option to present profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income in either a single statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. However, the amendments to AASB 101 
require items of other comprehensive income to be grouped into two categories in the other comprehensive income section as:

(a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and 

(b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. 

Income tax on items of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same basis – the amendments do not change the 
option to present items of other comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax. The amendments have been applied retrospectively, and 
hence the presentation of items of other comprehensive income has been modified to reflect the changes. Other than the above mentioned 
presentation changes, the application of the amendments to AASB 101 does not result in any impact on profit or loss, other comprehensive 
income and total comprehensive income.

The amendments (part of AASB 2012-5 ‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-
2011 Cycle’) requires an entity that changes accounting policies retrospectively, or makes a retrospective restatement or reclassification 
to present a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period (third statement of financial position), when the 
retrospective application, restatement or reclassification has a material effect on the information in the third statement of financial position. The 
related notes to the third statement of financial position are not required to be disclosed.

Standards and Interpretations Affecting the Reported Results or Financial Position

There are no new and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in these financial statements which affect the financial performance or 
financial position.

Standards and Interpretations Issued Not Yet Effective

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of Standards and Interpretations were on issue but not yet effective.

Management is currently evaluating the impact that the initial application of the following Standards and Interpretations will have on the 
financial report of the Group. Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of Surface Mine is likely to have the most impact with 
regards to future open pit mining by the Group. There is expected to be minimal impact with regards to the Group’s current open pit mine 
at Casposo. AASB 119 Employee Benefits is not expected to have any significant impact, as the Group does not have any defined benefit 
superannuation or pension plans and any discounting of annual leave entitlements due to the timing of expected payments should be minimal.
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Standard/Interpretations
Effective for Annual Reporting 
Periods Beginning on or After

Expected to be Initially Applied in 
the Financial Year Ending

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, and the relevant amending 
standards

1 January 2015 30 June 2016

AASB 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ and AASB 2011-7 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ and AASB 2011-7 ‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ and AASB 
2011-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 127 ‘Separate Financial Statements’(2011) and AASB 
2011-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 128 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ 
(2011) and AASB 2011-7 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint 
Arrangements Standards’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 13 ‘Fair Value Measurements’ and AASB 2011-8 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards rising from 
AASB 13’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’(2011) and AASB 2011-10 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 119 (2011)’ 

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2011-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel Disclosure 
Requirements’

1 July 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2012-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2012-3 ‘Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’, AASB 132

1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2012-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2012-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Transition Guidance to Other Amendments. 

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Interpretation 20 ‘ Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 
Surface Mine’ and AASB 2011-12 ‘amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 20’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014
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3. Revenue

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Profit From Continuing Operations
Revenue
Gold sales 166,068 182,219

Silver sales 36,647 26,362

202,715 208,581

Other income
Interest received – bank 289 558

Gain on sale of equipment 178 12

Net foreign currency exchange gains 1,026 1,564

Interest received – convertible note 184 -

Other 53 81

1,730 2,215
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4. Profit / (Loss) From Continuing Operations for the 
Year Before income Tax includes the Following 
Losses and Expenses:

Note
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)

Exploration expenditure 17,202 16,500

Exploration capitalised 13 (8,366) (7,876)

Exploration expensed (net) 8,836 8,624

Finance costs 1,358 3,290

Depreciation of plant & equipment:

- Cost of sales 10,743 13,349

- Administration expenses 304 317

11,047 13,666

Amortisation of mining properties 19,976 18,335

Export tax and other taxes (Argentina) 7,657 7,804

Government royalties 7,975 6,790

Impairment loss (other financial assets) 10 - 938

Rehabilitation borrowing cost 117 81

Administration expenses
Head office salaries, bonuses and on-costs 2,603 2,092

Expatriate salaries and bonuses 558 1,211

Directors fees and on-costs 541 503

Other Brazil administration 128 151

Depreciation – furniture and equipment 304 317

Canadian office and administration 814 349

Other Head office administration (i) 3,416 3,369

Total 8,364 7,992

Other Expenses – Corporate
Share based payments 821 1,001

Expenses associated with the Azimuth Resources Limited takeover 572 -

1,393 1,001

(i) Includes listing fees, shareholder costs, audit fees, taxation consultants, office rents, insurance, travel, conferences and other head office administration 
expenditure.
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5. income Tax

(a) Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Current tax expense
Current year – income tax charge / (income) 15,901 15,736

Deferred income tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (463) 8,389

Total Income tax expense (benefit) in the income statement 15,438 24,125

Numerical Reconciliation of tax expenses to prima facie tax payable
Profit / (Loss) before tax – continuing operations 31,573 56,774

Profit / (Loss) before tax – discontinued operations 2,455 (1,227)

34,028 55,547

At the Group’s statutory tax rates of Australia: 30%, Brazil: 34% and  Argentina 35% 11,074 19,465

Difference in income tax expense due to:

Share based payments 246 300

Non-deductible foreign salaries & exploration 242 869

Non-deductible expenses 3,156 87

Deductible intercompany foreign exchange (589) (1,290)

Non-deductible impairment - 281

Tax payable on intercompany transaction - 482

Interest free loan adjustment - 33

Australian tax losses not recognised 1,060 1,283

Foreign tax losses not recognised 249 260

Argentina – temporary differences recognised - 2,355

Income tax expense (benefit) on pre-tax net profit 15,438 24,125

Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity
Foreign exchange translation reserve (415) (963)

Income tax expense reported in equity (415) (963)



NOTES TO ThE cONSOlIDATED FINANcIAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Annual Report 2013 69

(b) Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities) Arise from the Following:

Opening  
Balance

charged to 
Income

charged to 
Equity

closing
Balance

2013
Consumable inventories (28) 28 - -
Capitalised mining costs – Australia 11 (11) - -
Capitalised mining costs – Brazil (474) 304 (8) (178)
Capitalised mining costs – Argentina (5,778) 159 423 (5,196)
Plant and equipment 608 (583) - 25
Provisions for employee entitlements and 
rehabilitation

627 (401) - 226

Australia Tax Losses 4,026 1,060 - 5,086
Other (net) – Australia (516) 260 - (256)
Other (net) – Brazil (777) - - (777)
Temporary differences not recognised (702) 707 - 5
Tax losses not recognised (4,026) (1,060) - (5,086)

(7,029) 463 415 (6,151)

Deferred tax assets -
Deferred tax liabilities (6,151)

(6,151)

2012

Consumable inventories (37) 9 - (28)

Capitalised mining costs – Australia 14 (3) - 11

Capitalised mining costs – Brazil (3,369) 2,121 774 (474)

Capitalised mining costs – Argentina - (5,967) 189 (5,778)

Plant and equipment 601 7 - 608

Deferred consideration 236 (236) - -

Provisions for employee entitlements and 
rehabilitation

715 (88) - 627

Foreign currency on intercompany loans – Brazil 75 (75) - -

Australia Tax Losses 2,481 1,545 - 4,026

Argentina Tax Losses 4,468 (4,468) - -

Other (net) – Australia (13) (503) - (516)

Other (net) – Brazil (777) - - (777)

Temporary differences not recognised (1,516) 814 - (702)

Tax losses not recognised (2,481) (1,545) - (4,026)

397 (8,389) 963 (7,029)

Deferred tax assets -

Deferred tax liabilities (7,029)

(7,029)



NOTES TO ThE cONSOlIDATED FINANcIAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Troy Resources Limited70

(c) Tax Balances

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Current Tax Payables 9,881 7,752

Deferred Tax Liabilities 6,151 7,029

(d) Unrecognised Deferred Tax Assets

The following deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as assets:

Tax losses – Australia 5,086 4,026

5,086 4,026

Tax Consolidation

Relevance of Tax Consolidation to the Group

Troy Resources Limited and its wholly-owned Australian resident subsidiaries have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 July 
2003 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax consolidated group is Troy. Members of the group 
have not entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense to the wholly owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. 
In the absence of such an agreement, the subsidiaries are jointly and severally liable for the income tax liabilities of the head entity should the 
head entity default on its payment obligations. At balance date the likelihood of default is remote.

Nature of Tax Funding Arrangements and Tax Sharing Agreements

Entities within the tax consolidated group have not entered into a tax funding arrangement.

6. discountinued Operations

Disposal of the Sandstone Gold Project

On 26 March 2013 the Company completed the sale of its Sandstone Gold Project held as available for sale under care & maintenance to 
Southern Cross Goldfields Limited. The proceeds from the sale exceeded the carrying amount of the related net assets. Details of the assets 
and liabilities disposed of, and the calculation of the profit on the disposal are:

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Profit from Discontinued operations 
Revenue
Revenue from sale of Sandstone Assets 2,281 -

Cost of Sale
Release of rehabilitation obligations 1,176 -

Assets disposed (90) -

Sale expenses (67) -

Gain on sale of asset 3,300 -

Care and Maintenance costs (845) (1,277)

Profit / (Loss) before income tax 2,455 (1,277)

Income tax expense - -

Profit / (Loss) for the year from discontinued operations 2,455 (1,277)
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7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Cash at bank 4,088 5,234

Cash at bank – Overseas 17,634 34,687

Short Term Interest Bearing Deposits – Australia 4,364 19,001

26,086 58,922

Investments in short term money market instruments are bearing interest at rates of 2.75% to 3.20%p.a. (2012: 3.65% to 5.08% p.a.).

8. Other Receivables and Prepayments

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

CURRENT
Other Debtors and prepayments (a)(b) 11,685 5,500

Value added tax recoverable (c) 12,169 9,104

23,854 14,604

NON CURRENT
Value added tax recoverable (c) 2,138 3,102

(a) Trade and other debtors include accounts receivable in relation to bullion sales. Other receivables and prepayments primarily include advance 
payments to contractors and insurers and recovery of fuel and accommodation expenses incurred on behalf of contractors. Where the collection 
of receivables is doubtful an allowance for doubtful debts is recognised. No allowance has been recognised at either 30 June 2013 or 2012. Trade 
receivables operate on standard 30 to 45 day terms. No interest is charged for the first 45 days from the date of the invoice.

(b) As at 30 June 2013 and 2012 no receivables are past due, or impaired.
(c) Within Argentina, the Group has incurred value added tax (VAT) as part of its purchases which are recoverable over time in proportion to the level of 

future export sales. During the year ended 30 June 2013, $19,425,000 of VAT receivable was recovered (2012: $14,200,000).

9. inventories (Current)

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

At Cost:

Bullion on hand 109 1,161

Doré on hand 2,415 2,977

Ore stockpiles and work in progress 5,345 5,233

Stores and raw materials 12,494 7,772

20,363 17,143
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10. Other Financial Assets (non Current)

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Available for sale investment held at fair value 

Shares in listed corporations at fair value(i) 72 134

Convertible Note 

Convertible Note from Azimuth Limited(ii-iv) 10,184 -

10,256 134

(i) The fair value of listed shares has been based on the closing share price at the end of the financial year. At the end of the current year all listed 
shares are designated as available for sale.  Troy holds 8.5% (2012: 8.6%) of Meritus Minerals Ltd, a Canadian listed company involved in mineral 
exploration primarily in Mongolia. During the prior year ended 30 June 2012, Troy permanently impaired its investment in Meritus Minerals Ltd by 
$938,000 due to prolonged devaluation in the share price (Note 4).

(ii) Troy holds 10,000,000 convertible notes issued by Azimuth denominated in A$ at the face value of $1.00, and a maturity date of 28 March 2014. 
Each note entitles Troy to convert to Azimuth ordinary shares at a conversion rate of A$0.30 per share on or before maturity.  Troy also has the option 
to call the principal and interest payable on demand in cash, should there be a change of control of Azimuth.

(iii) Interest will accrue on the principal of the notes at a fixed rate of 8% per annum and is calculated quarterly in arrears. As at 30 June 2013, accrued 
interest totalled $184,000.

(iv) If the notes have not been converted, both principle and accrued interest will be redeemable for cash at maturity.
(v) Refer to Note 30 and Note 34 for further information in relation to the acquisition of Azimuth subsequent to 30 June 2013.
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11. Property, Plant & Equipment

land &  
Buildings  

at cost
($’000)

Plant & 
 Equipment  

at cost
($’000)

Motor  
vehicles  

at cost
($’000)

Total
($’000)

Gross carrying amount:
Balance at 30 June 2011 1,714 79,844 3,218 84,776

Additions 9,201 3,387 651 13,239

Disposals - (67) (782) (849)

Net foreign currency exchange differences (2,260) (7,326) (746) (10,332)

Balance at 30 June 2012 8,655 75,838 2,341 86,834

Additions 41 22,104 1,446 23,591

Disposals(i) (40) (12,654) (290) (12,984)

Net foreign currency exchange differences (470) (942) 226 (1,186)

Balance at 30 June 2013 8,186 84,346 3,723 96,255
Accumulated depreciation and 
Impairment:
Balance at 30 June 2011 (2) (29,971) (1,733) (31,706)

Depreciation expense (1,413) (11,488) (765) (13,666)

Disposals - 40 590 630

Net foreign currency exchange differences (27) 4,037 320 4,330

Balance at 30 June 2012 (1,442) (37,382) (1,588) (40,412)

Depreciation expense (902) (9,524) (621) (11,047)

Disposals(i) - 12,546 270 12,816

Net foreign currency exchange differences 80 (536) 3 (453)

Balance at 30 June 2013 (2,264) (34,896) (1,936) (39,096)

Net book value:
As at 30 June 2012 7,213 38,456 753 46,422

As at 30 June 2013 5,922 49,450 1,787 57,159

(i) Principally the disposal of historic Sandstone Gold Project assets which were fully depreciated. Refer also Note 6. 

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether recognised as an expense or capitalised as part 
of the carrying amount of other assets during the year

Buildings 902 1,413

Plant and equipment 9,524 11,488

Motor vehicles 621 765

Balance 11,047 13,666
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12. Mine Properties

Note
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
Mine properties
Balance at start of financial year 43,502 44,131

Expenditure incurred during the year 31,682 9,871

Transfers in from exploration properties 13 9,978 9,148

Provision for rehabilitation 1,837 737

Impairment write-down - (193)

Amortisation expensed during year (19,976) (18,335)

Net foreign currency exchange differences (880) (1,857)

Balance at 30 June 2013 66,143 43,502
 

13. Exploration Properties

Note
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
Exploration properties
Balance at start of financial year 1,612 2,884

Capitalised expenditure incurred during the year 4 8,366 7,876

Transfers to mine properties 12 (9,978) (9,148)

Impairment write-down - -

Net foreign currency exchange differences - -

Balance at end of financial year - 1,612
 

14. Trade and Other Payables

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

CURRENT
Trade payables (a) 17,753 6,513

Accrued expenses 12,940 7,371

Power Line payable (b) 1,739 1,561

Deferred consideration on acquisition(c) 219 197

Dividends (d) 71 74

32,722 15,716

NON CURRENT
Power Line Payable (b) 860 2,267

(a) The standard credit period on purchases is 30 days from statement. No interest is usually chargeable on the trade payables for the first 45 to 60 days 
from the date of invoice. Thereafter, interest is typically charged on the outstanding balance. The Group has financial risk management policies in 
place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time frame.

(b) The Group has a contractual obligation to contribute to the upgrade and construction of power lines in the San Juan province. This obligation was 
assumed as part of the Casposo Project purchase. 

(c) As part of the agreement relating to the acquisition of Troy Resources Argentina Ltd and the Casposo project US$0.2 million has been retained until 
satisfactory completion of outstanding items from the purchase agreement.

(d) The payable for dividends represents the aggregate amount of dividends declared, determined or publicly recommended on or before the reporting 
date, which remain undistributed as at reporting date, regardless of the extent to which they are expected to be paid in cash (also refer to Note 21).
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15. Provisions

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

CURRENT
Employee benefits(b) 2,942 1,888

Rehabilitation(a) 92 1,285

3,034 3,173

NON CURRENT
Employee benefits(b) 148 160

Rehabilitation(a) 4,910 2,845

5,058 3,005

(a) Provision for Rehabilitation

A provision for rehabilitation is recognised in relation to the mining activities for costs such as reclamation, waste site closure, plant closure and 
other costs associated with the rehabilitation of a mining site. Estimates of the rehabilitation obligations are based on anticipated technology 
and legal requirements and future costs, which have been discounted to their present value. In determining the rehabilitation provision, the 
entity has assumed no significant changes will occur in the relevant legislation in relation to rehabilitation of such mines in the future.

current  
Rehabilitation

Provision
($’000)

Non-current 
Rehabilitation

Provision
($’000)

Balance at 1 July 2011 1,169 2,246

Additional provisions recognised 193 554

Unwinding of discount - 81

Reductions arising from payments (77) -

Net foreign currency exchange differences - (26)

Balance at 30 June 2012 1,285 2,845
Additional provisions recognised - 1,837
Unwinding of discount - 117
Reductions arising from payments (17) -
Reductions arising from disposal of operations (refer Note 6) (1,176) -
Net foreign currency exchange differences - 111
Transfer from / (to) Non-current - -
Balance at 30 June 2013 92 4,910

(b) Employee Provisions

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

The aggregate employee entitlement liability recognised and included in the Financial 
Statements is as follows:

Current 2,942 1,888

Non-current 148 160

3,090 2,048

No. No.

Employees at the end of the financial year 547 520
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16. Borrowings

Debt facility: Secured – at amortised cost
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
Investec Bank Australia – 31 March 2010 facility (i) - 14,227

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Argentina) S.A. – debt facility (ii) 2,433 -

Investec – Revolving Corporate Loan Facility (RCF) (iii) - -

Investec – Revolving Acquisition Loan Facility (ALF) (iii) - -

2,433 14,227

Current 270 14,227

Non-current 2,163 -

2,433 14,227

Summary of Borrowing Arrangements
(i) Investec 31 March 2010 Debt Facility

(a) As at 30 June 2013, the consolidated entity had fully repaid the revolving corporate debt facility with Investec Bank (Australia) Limited (Investec).
(b) The facility was entered into on 31 March 2010 at a limit of $25.0 million which was then increased to $35.0 million in January 2011. The facility 

matured on 31 March 2013, and was repaid ahead of schedule in October 2012.
(c) The weighted average effective interest rate on the facility was 7.79% per annum (2012: 8.07%).

The facility was secured by a mortgage over the Company’s Sandstone mining licences and security over shares in wholly owned subsidiaries, 
Troy Resources Argentina Ltd and Reinarda Mineração Ltda.

The table below summarises unlisted options issued to Investec as part of loan establishment fees (non-cash):

Month of Issue
Balance at 

1.7.12
Number of  

options issued Movt
Balance at 

30.6.13
vested at  

Balance Date Exercise Period Expiry Date
March 2010 952,381 - (952,381) - - May 2010 to 

May 2013
7 May 2013

July 2010 632,912 - - 632,912 632,912 July 2010 to 
July 2013

30 July 2013

1,585,293 - (952,381) 632,912 632,912

(ii) Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Argentina) S.A.
(a) As at 30 June 2013, the consolidated entity had an Argentine Peso 12.0 million debt facility with Industrial and Commercial Bank of China 

(Argentina) S.A. (ICBC). The facility was entered into on 16 May 2013, the facility has a three year term.
(b) As at 30 June 2013, the facility was fully drawn. As per the facility agreement quarterly principal repayments commence 17 May 2014. Each 

repayment is equivalent to 11% of the facility limit and conclude on 17 May 2016.
(c) The weighted average effective interest rate on the facility is 15.25% per annum (2012: Nil).
(d) The facility is unsecured.

(iii) Investec – 26 June 2013 Debt Facility
(a) As at 30 June 2013, the consolidated entity has a $40.0 million debt facility with Investec. This debt facility has two available tranches:

i. Revolving Corporate Loan Facility (RCF): has a limit of $20.0 million and was first available for draw down on 1 July 2013. It can be used for 
general corporate and working capital purposes.

ii. Revolving Acquisition Loan Facility (ALF): has a limit of $20.0 million and was first available for draw down on 2 July 2013. The ALF can be 
used for costs associated with the Azimuth takeover and preliminary development costs of the West Omai project.

(b) The RCF was entered into on 26 June 2013. The facility has a three year term and reduces by 25% instalments on 26 December 2014, 26 June 
2015, 26 December 2015 and 26 June 2016.

(c) The ALF has an eighteen month term repayable in full on 26 December 2014.
(d) Secured by mortgage over the Company’s shares in its subsidiaries, Troy Resources Argentina Ltd and Reinarda Mineraҫᾶo Ltda, both wholly 

owned, and Azimuth (compulsory acquisition of 100% currently underway).
(e) On 26 June 2013, the consolidated entity issued 1,362,398 unlisted call options over Troy ordinary shares with an exercise price of $3.67 and 

expiring on 26 June 2016 to Investec as part consideration for the establishment of these loan facilities (non-cash).
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17. issued Capital

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Issued Capital
91,468,649 (2012: 89,412,649) ordinary shares fully paid 109,695 101,804

109,695 101,804

2013 2012

No.
(‘000) ($’000)

No.
(‘000) ($’000)

Fully paid ordinary share capital
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 89,413 101,804 87,986 97,596

Issue of fully paid shares on exercise of options (i) 1,511 5,485 1,121 3,070

Issue of fully paid shares on vesting of performance rights (i) 16 29 36 74

Issue of fully paid shares for dividend reinvestment plan 529 2,377 270 1,064

91,469 109,695 89,413 101,804

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the entitlement to dividends.
(i) Issue of fully paid shares relates to the exercise of options under the Employee Share Option Share Plan Forfurther information on employee options 

and performance rights refer Note 25 Employee Share Equity Plans. In accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share Option Plan and 
Performance Rights Plan, as at 30 June 2013, employees have 1,333,000 outstanding options (2012: 2,844,000) and 320,000 performance rights 
(2012: 36,000) over ordinary shares in aggregate. Full details of the plan are contained in Note 25 to the Financial Statements.
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18. Reserves

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

(a) Share Based Payment Reserve:
Balance at beginning of financial year 4,376 4,146

Share based payments(i) 821 1,001

Transfer to issued capital on vesting of performance rights (29) (74)

Transfer to issued capital on conversion of options (1,492) (697)

Investec options(ii) 1,256 -

Balance at the end of the financial year 4,932 4,376

(i) The Share Based Payments arise due to the grant of share options and performance shares under the Employee Share Option Plan or Performance 
Rights Plan and the issue of securities by the Company. Amounts are transferred out of the reserve and into issued capital when the options or other 
securities are issued, exercised, vested or fully paid up. Further information about share-based payments to employees is included in Note 25 to the 
financial statements.

(ii) As part consideration for the establishment of Investec’s loan facilities, the consolidated entity issued 1,362,398 unlisted call options over Troy 
ordinary shares. Further information about share-based payments to Investec is included in Note 16 to the financial statements.

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

(b) Available for Sale Reserve:
Balance at beginning of financial year - (666)

Valuation loss recognised, net of tax (62) -

Loss reclassified to profit or loss on impairment of available for sale asset - 666

Balance at the end of the financial year (62) -

The Available for Sale Reserve arises on the revaluation of available for sale financial assets. When a revalued financial asset is sold, the portion of the 
reserve which relates to the financial asset is recognised in profit or loss. Where a revalued financial asset is impaired, that portion of the reserve which 
relates to that financial asset is recognised in the profit and loss. Valuation gains / (losses) are net of applicable income taxes.

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

(c) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve:
Balance at beginning of financial year (41,877) (33,262)

Translation of foreign operations (4,342) (8,615)

Balance at the end of the financial year (46,219) (41,877)

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s foreign controlled entities into Australian dollars are brought 
to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described in Note 1(m).

TOTAL RESERVES (41,349) (37,501)
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19. Retained Earnings

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Retained Profits
Balance at beginning of financial year 68,224 42,103

Net profit/(loss) 18,594 31,438

Dividend paid/payable (9,045) (5,317)

Balance at end of financial year 77,773 68,224

20. Earnings / (Loss) Per Share

2013
cents Per Share

2012
cents Per Share

Basic Earnings / (loss) per share

From continuing operations 17.8 36.8

From discontinued operations 2.7 (1.3)

Total basic earnings per share 20.5 35.5

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share

From continuing operations 17.7 36.4

From discontinued operations 2.7 (1.4)

Total diluted earnings per share 20.4 35.0

(a) Basic Earnings Per Share

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Parent 18,594 31,438

Profit / (loss) for the year from discontinued operations used in the calculation of basic 
earnings per share from discontinued operations 

2,455 (1,227)

Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share from continuing operations 16,139 32,665

2013
No. (‘000)

2012
No. (‘000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  for the purposes of basic earnings per share. 90,892 88,616

(b) Diluted Earnings / (Loss) Per Share

The earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows:

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 18,594 31,438

Profit / (loss) for the year from discontinued operations 2,455 (1,227)

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 16,139 32,665

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares used in the calculation of base earnings per share as follows.
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2013
No. (‘000)

2012
No. (‘000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings 
per share

90,892 88,616

Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration:

Employee unlisted options 389 850

Employee performance rights - -

Investec Options - 422

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings 
per share

91,281 89,888

 
The following potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive and are therefore excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
the purposes of diluted earnings per share.

2013
No. (‘000)

2012
No. (‘000)

Employee options 760 400
Performance rights 320 36
Investec options 2,315 -

3,395 436

21. dividends and Franking Credits

2013 2012

cents per 
Share

Total
($’000)

cents per 
Share

Total
($’000)

Final 2012 dividend paid in full franked at 30% tax rate paid 19 October 
2012 (2012: Final 2011 dividend paid in full, franked at 30% tax rate paid 
6 January 2012).

10.0 9,045 6.0 5,317

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Adjusted franking account balance at 30% tax rate 1,604 5,489
 

22. director and Other Key Management Personnel 
Compensation

(a) The following persons were Directors of Troy Resources Limited during the financial year:

• D R Dix (Non-Executive Director and Chairman)

• P Benson (Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer)

• K K Nilsson (Executive Director Project Development, based in Argentina)

• G R Chambers (Non-Executive Director)

• F S Grimwade (Non-Executive Director)

• J L C Jones (Non-Executive Director)

• C R W Parish (Non-Executive Director)
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(b) The following persons were also Key Management Personnel of Troy Resources Limited during the 

financial year:

• P J Doyle (Vice President – Exploration and Business Development, based in Canada)

• D R Sadgrove (Chief Financial Officer and Joint Company Secretary)

• A D B Storrie (Chief Operating Officer, based in Argentina)

(c) Key Management Personnel Compensation

The aggregate compensation of Directors and Other Senior Managers in the Group and the Company is set out below:

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Short-term employee benefits 2,921,900 2,764,053

Long service leave 64,368 78,092

Post-employment benefits 136,721 178,533

Share-based payments 516,439 606,924

3,639,428 3,627,602

2013
Average No.

2012
Average No.

Directors and Other Senior Management 10 10

(d) Equity Instruments Disclosure Relating to Key Management Personnel

(i) Options and performance rights provided as remuneration and shares issued upon conversion or vesting of those options or rights, together 
with their terms and conditions, can be found in Note 24 – Related Party Transactions and Note 25 – Employee Share Equity Plans.

(ii) Options and shares held in the Company by Key Management Personnel during the financial year are set out in Note 24 - Related 
Party Transactions.

(e) Loans to Key Management Personnel

There were no loans to Key Management Personnel during the current or prior financial year.

(f) Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel

There were no transactions entered into during the current financial year with Key Management Personnel other than those set out in Note 
24 – Related Party Transactions.

The Company has no contingent liability for termination benefits under service agreements with Key Management Personnel at balance date.
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23. Auditor’s Remuneration

2013
($)

2012
($)

(a) Paid or Payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Australia:

Audit of the financial reports 154,560 152,032

154,560 152,032

(b) Paid or Payable to overseas associates of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu:

Audit of the financial reports 124,438 121,039

124,438 121,039

278,998 273,071

No other benefits were received by the Auditor.

24. Related Party Transactions

(a) Subsidiaries

The ultimate parent entity of the group is Troy Resources Limited.

Details of the ownership of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 29 to the Financial Statements.

(b) Key Management Personnel

As required by the Corporations Act 2001, the Company has disclosed information about the compensation of Directors, Executives and Other 
Key Management Personnel (“Compensation Disclosures”) under the heading “Remuneration Report” on pages 39 to 46 of the Directors’ Report.

The value of share-based payments in the remuneration tables has been calculated by an independent financial services provider using a 
Binomial Valuation Model for share options and Monte Carlo Valuation Model for performance rights.

Aggregate numbers of fully paid and share options/performance rights of Troy held directly, indirectly or beneficially by Key Management 
Personnel or their related parties at balance date is:

YEAR 2013 – Fully Paid Ordinary Shares Issued by Troy Resources Limited

2013
Balance at 

1.7.12
Granted as 

Remuneration

Received on 
Exercise of 

Options
Net Other 

change
Balance at 

30.6.13
Balance held 

Nominally
Directors
D R Dix 87,013 - - 40,000 127,013 127,013

P Benson 178,684 - 800,000 (615,994) 362,690 -

K K Nilsson 385,239 - 300,000 (355,000) 330,239 -

G R Chambers 23,332 - - - 23,332 -

F S Grimwade 40,000 - - 40,000 80,000 -

J L C Jones 10,295,077 - - (14,053) 10,281,024 9,041,963

C R W Parish 4,268,766 - - 154,492 4,423,258 4,312,266

Other Key Management Personnel
P J Doyle 9,500 - 156,000 (147,000) 18,500 -

D R Sadgrove 30,000 - 106,000 (126,000) 10,000 -

A D B Storrie 11,867 - - 263 12,130 -

TOTAL 15,329,478 - 1,362,000 (1,023,292) 15,668,186 13,481,242
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YEAR 2012 – Fully Paid Ordinary Shares Issued by Troy Resources Limited

2012
Balance at 

1.7.11
Granted as 

Remuneration

Received on 
Exercise of 

Options
Net Other 

change
Balance at 

30.6.12
Balance held 

Nominally
Directors
D R Dix 87,013 - - - 87,013 87,013

P Benson 126,500 20,000 200,000 (167,816) 178,684 -

K K Nilsson 85,239 - 300,000 - 385,239 -

G R Chambers 23,332 - - - 23,332 -

F S Grimwade 20,000 - - 20,000 40,000 -

J L C Jones 10,644,380 - - (349,303) 10,295,077 9,056,016

C R W Parish 4,924,287 - - (655,521) 4,268,766 4,136,507

Other Key Management Personnel
P J Doyle 3,500 6,000 50,000 (50,000) 9,500 -

D R Sadgrove - 6,000 100,000 (76,000) 30,000 -

A D B Storrie(1) 3,617 - - 8,250 11,867 -

TOTAL 15,917,868 32,000 650,000 (1,270,390) 15,329,478 13,279,536

(1) Appointed Chief Operating Officer 1 January 2012

YEAR 2013 – Executive Share Options Issued by Troy Resources Limited

2013
Balance at 

1.7.12
Granted as 

Remuneration Exercised
Exercise 

Price
Other

change
Balance 

at 30.6.13

Balance 
vested at 

30.6.13

vested  
but not  

Exercisable
vested and 
Exercisable

Options 
vested 
during 

Year
Directors
P Benson 800,000 - (800,000) $2.98 - - - - - -

K K Nilsson 300,000 - (300,000) $3.51 - - - - - -

Other 
Directors

- - - - - - - - - -

Other Key Management Personnel
P J Doyle 400,000 - (150,000) $1.32 - 250,000 84,000 - 84,000 84,000

D R Sadgrove 100,000 - (100,000) $1.36 - - - - - -

A D B Storrie 230,000 - - - - 230,000 187,000 - 187,000 77,000

TOTAL 1,830,000 - (1,350,000) - 480,000 271,000 - 271,000 161,000

There were Nil (2012: 600,000) employee share options issued to Executive Directors or other Key Management Personnel during the year, 
under the Troy Employee Share Option Plan.

Each share option converts into one ordinary share in the Company on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on the grant 
or vesting of the option. During the year, 1,350,000 (2012: 650,000) options were exercised by Key Management Personnel. Further details of 
the Employee Share Option Plan are contained in Note 25 and details of the remuneration of Key Management Personnel are contained in the 
Remuneration Report within the Directors’ Report.
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YEAR 2012 – Executive Share Options Issued by Troy Resources Limited

2012
Balance 

at 1.7.11
Granted as 

Remuneration Exercised
Exercise 

Price
Other

change
Balance 

at 30.6.12

Balance 
vested at 

30.6.12

vested  
but not 

Exercisable
vested and 
Exercisable

Options 
vested 
during 

Year
Directors
P Benson 1,000,000 - (200,000) $2.98 - 800,000 800,000 - 800,000 250,000

K K Nilsson 300,000 300,000 (300,000) $1.25 - 300,000 300,000 - 300,000 400,000

Other 
Directors

- - - - - - - - - -

Other Key Management Personnel

P J Doyle 200,000 250,000 (50,000) $2.51 - 400,000 150,000 - 150,000 49,500

D R 
Sadgrove

200,000 - (100,000) $1.88 - 100,000 100,000 - 100,000 49,500

A D B 
Storrie

180,000 50,000 - - - 230,000 110,000 - 110,000 60,000

TOTAL 1,880,000 600,000 (650,000) - 1,830,000 1,460,000 - 1,460,000 809,000

YEAR 2013 – Executive Performance Rights Issued by Troy Resources Limited

2013
Balance 

at 1.7.12
Granted as 

Remuneration
converted  
to shares

hurdle 
Price 

Range
Other

change
Balance 

at 30.6.13

Balance 
vested at 

30.6.13

vested 
but not 
Issued vested during Year

Directors
P Benson - 300,000 - 5.15-6.13 - 300,000 - - -

Other Directors - - - - - - - - -

Other Key Management Personnel
P J Doyle 9,000 - (6,000) 4.00-5.00 - 3,000 - - 6,000

D R Sadgrove 14,000 - (6,000) 4.00-5.50 - 8,000 - - 6,000

TOTAL 23,000 300,000 (12,000) - 311,000 - - 12,000
 
Each performance right entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the Company at an exercise price of $nil. These 
Performance Rights vest and are immediately exercised into ordinary shares once the following performance conditions are met:

(i) Continuous employment through to vesting determination date;

(ii) The share price having been on or above the hurdle price for a continuous 10 day period; and

(iii) The share price having been on or above the hurdle price on the date of vesting.
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YEAR 2012 – Executive Performance Rights Issued by Troy Resources Limited

2012
Balance 

at 1.7.11
Granted as 

Remuneration
converted to 

shares
hurdle Price 

Range
Other

change
Balance at 

30.6.12

Balance 
vested at 

30.6.12

vested 
but not 
Issued

vested 
during 

Year
Directors
P Benson 20,000 - (20,000) 3.00 - - - - 20,000

Other Directors - - - - - - - - -

Other Key Management Personnel
P J Doyle 15,000 - (6,000) 3.00 – 5.00 - 9,000 - - 6,000

D R Sadgrove 15,000 5,000 (6,000) 3.00 – 5.50 - 14,000 - - 6,000

TOTAL 50,000 5,000 (32,000) 23,000 32,000

(c) Other Related Party Transactions:

Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP

Mr G R Chambers is a partner at Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP a limited liability partnership under Canadian law. This firm provides corporate legal 
services to local and international clients. All legal services provided to the Company are at normal commercial rates for the amounts as follows: 

2013
$

2012
$

Legal services (1) 35,654 58,654

Azimuth takeover 136,420 -

Due diligence 74,707 79,202

Non-executive director remuneration 76,216 42,565

Expense reimbursements (2) 22,984 43,507

345,981 223,928

(1) In the current year, $23,552 relates to work performed by lawyers other than Mr Chambers.
(2) Reimbursement of expenses relates to Mr Chambers travel to Australia, Argentina and Brazil, in his capacity as a non-executive director, and to 

document lodgement with regulatory authorities in Canada.
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25. Employee Share Equity Plans

Employee Share Option Plan

In November 2007 the Company adopted a new Employee Share Option Plan (“Plan”) which was approved at the Annual General Meeting 
on 25 November 2010.

Options under the Plan are issued with the following terms and conditions:

(a) to employees or Directors of the Company or any Associated Body Corporate;

(b) the number of options outstanding and shares issued under the Plan in the last five years cannot exceed 7% of issued shares;

(c) issue cost is nil;

(d) each grant of options is split into three approximately equal portions. The first third vest on the first anniversary of the grant date, the second 
third on the second anniversary of the grant date and the final third on the third anniversary of the grant date. All options expire on the fourth 
anniversary of the grant date;

(e) options carry no voting rights, and no rights to dividends;

(f) options may be exercised at any time from the date on which they vest up until the expiry date;

(g) options expire when the option holder ceases to be employed by the Company unless the Directors, in their sole discretion due to extenuating 
circumstances, determine otherwise; and options are issued at the discretion of the Directors who take into account the length of service of 
the recipient.

Under the Plan, the exercise price of an Option is based on the Volume Weighted Average Price of the shares as traded on the stock exchange 
where the majority of the Company’s shares are traded over the five trading days prior to the date of grant of the Options.

During the year ended 30 June 2013, Nil (2012: 1,060,000) options were issued under the Plan and Nil (2012: 9,000) options lapsed during 
the year.

Consideration received on the exercise of the employee options is recognised in contributed equity. During the financial year $3,993,130 
(2012: $2,373,934) was recognised in contributed equity arising from the exercise of employee options.
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Employee Options 2013

Month 
of 
issue

Balance  
at 1.7.12

No. 
options 
issued

No. of 
options 

exercised
Exercise 

Date
Ex. 

Price

Proceeds 
Received

($)

Fair value 
on date of 

exercise
($)

Number 
lapsed / 

cancelled 
during 

the year
Balance at

30.6.13
vested at

30.6.13
vesting 
Period

Expiry 
Date

Jan 
2012

250,000 - - - $4.37 - - - 250,000 84,000 Jan 13 – 
Jan 15

9 Jan 
16

Nov 
2011

260,000 - - - $4.17 - - - 260,000 90,000 Nov 12 – 
Nov 14

28 Nov 
15

Nov 
2011

300,000 - (300,000) Sep 12 – 
Oct 12

$3.51 1,053,000 398,000 - - - Jun 12 – 
Jun 13

7 Jun 
14

Sept 
2011

150,000 - - - $4.68 - - - 150,000 50,000 Sep 12 – 
Sep 14

9 Sep 
15

Aug 
2011

100,000 - - - $4.16 - - - 100,000 34,000 Aug 12 - 
Aug 14

12 Aug 
15

Oct 
2010

50,000 - - - $3.36 - - - 50,000 34,500 Oct 11 – 
Oct 13

28 Oct 
14

Aug 
2010

80,000 - - - $2.60 - - - 80,000 53,500 Aug 11 – 
Aug 13

5 Aug 
14

Mar 
2010

311,000 - (18,000) Oct 12 $2.14 38,520 51,120 - 293,000 293,000 Mar 11 – 
Mar 13

19 Mar 
14

Aug 
2009

150,000 - - - $1.79 - - - 150,000 150,000 Aug 10 – 
Aug 12

17 Aug 
13

Jun 
2009

250,000 - (250,000) Sep 12 – 
Jun 13

$1.36 339,275 383,725 - - - Jun 10 – 
Jun 12

17 Jun 
13

Oct 
2008

143,000 - (143,000) Jul 12 – 
Oct 12

$1.25 178,335 451,765 - - - Oct 08 – 
Oct 11

7 Oct 
12

Nov 
2007

800,000 - (800,000) Sep 12 $2.98 2,384,000 1,252,000 - - - Nov 07 – 
Oct 11

3 Oct 
12

2,844,000 - (1,511,000) - 3,993,130 2,536,610 - 1,333,000 789,000

The weighted average exercise price during the period was $2.64.
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Employee Options 2012

Month 
of 
issue

Balance at 
1.7.11

No. options 
issued

No. of 
options 

exercised
Exercise 

Date
Ex. 

Price

Proceeds 
Received

($)

Fair value 
on date of 

exercise
($)

Number 
lapsed / 

cancelled 
during 

the year
Balance at

30.6.12
vested at

30.6.12
vesting 
Period

Expiry 
Date

Jan 
2012

- 250,000 - - $4.37 - - - 250,000 - Jan 13 – 
Jan 15

9 Jan 
16

Nov 
2011

- 260,000 - - $4.17 - - - 260,000 - Nov 12 – 
Nov 14

28 Nov 
15

Nov 
2011

- 300,000 - - $3.51 - - - 300,000 - Jun 12 – 
Jun 13

7 Jun 
14

Sep 
2011

- 150,000 - - $4.68 - - - 150,000 Sep 12 – 
Sep 14

9 Sep 
15

Aug 
2011

- 100,000 - - $4.16 - - - 100,000 - Aug 12 - 
Aug 14

12 Aug 
15

Oct 
2010

50,000 - - - $3.36 - - - 50,000 19,000 Oct 11 – 
Oct 13

28 Oct 
14

Aug 
2010

80,000 - - - $2.60 - - - 80,000 27,000 Aug 11 
– Aug 13

5 Aug 
14

Mar 
2010

411,000 - (91,000) Dec 11 - 
Mar 12

$2.14 194,740 210,930 (9,000) 311,000 183,000 Mar 11 – 
Mar 13

19 Mar 
14

Aug 
2009

150,000 - - - $1.79 - - - 150,000 100,000 Aug 10 
– Aug 12

17 Aug 
13

Jun 
2009

250,000 - - - $1.42 - - - 250,000 250,000 Jun 10 – 
Jun 12

17 Jun 
13

Nov 
2008

300,000 - (300,000) Nov 11 $1.25 374,130 921,870 - - - Nov 08 – 
Oct 11

7 Oct 
12

Oct 
2008

238,000 - (95,000) Oct 11 - 
Dec 11

$1.25 118,475 317,626 - 143,000 143,000 Oct 08 – 
Oct 11

7 Oct 
12

Apr 
2008

435,000 - (435,000) Jul 11 – 
Apr 12

$2.51 1,090,589 866,806 - - - Apr 08 – 
Apr 11

23 Apr 
12

Nov 
2007

1,000,000 - (200,000) Apr 12 – 
Jun 12

$2.98 596,000 276,000 - 800,000 800,000 Nov 07 – 
Oct 11

3 Oct 
12

2,914,000 1,060,000 (1,121,000) - 2,373,934 2,593,232 (9,000) 2,844,000 1,522,000
 
The weighted average exercise price during the period was $2.12.



NOTES TO ThE cONSOlIDATED FINANcIAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Annual Report 2013 89

Employee Performance Rights Plan

The Company has an Employee Performance Rights Plan (Rights Plan) which was approved at the Annual General Meeting on 25 November 2010.

Performance rights under the Rights Plan relate to fully paid shares that will be issued for nil consideration with the following common terms 
and conditions:

(a) to employees or Directors of the Company or any Associated Body Corporate;

(b) the number of shares issued under the Rights Plan in the last five years cannot exceed 5% of issued shares;

(c) issue cost is nil;

(d) performance rights may only be exercised by the participant at the times, to the extent and in the manner set out in the offer pertaining to 
those performance rights;

(e) each grant of performance rights is split into portions with allocated hurdle criteria. All performance rights expire on the fourth anniversary 
of the grant date; and

(f) performance rights will expire when the holder ceases to be employed by the Company unless the Directors, in their sole discretion due to 
extenuating circumstances, determine otherwise; and performance rights are issued at the discretion of the Directors who take into account 
the length of service of the recipient.

(g) During the year ended 30 June 2013, 300,000 performance rights were issued (2012: 12,000) and 16,000 performance rights vested (2012: 
36,000). Nil performance rights were cancelled or lapsed (2012: Nil).

Employee Performance Rights 2013

Month 
of 
issue

Balance 
at  

1.7.12

No. 
rights 

issued
hurdle price 

range

No. of 
rights 

vested
vesting 

Date

Fair value 
on date 
of issue

($)

Number 
lapsed / 

cancelled 
during the 

year

Balance 
at

30.6.13

vested 
at

30.6.13
vestment 

Period
Expiry 

Date
Nov 
2012

- 300,000 $5.15 - $6.13 - - - - 300,000 - Oct 13 – 
Oct 16

12 Oct 
16

Nov 
2011

12,000 - $5.50 - - - - 12,000 - Nov 12 – 
Nov 15

28 Nov 
15

Sep 
2010

24,000 - $4.00 - $5.00 (16,000)  9 Sep 
12

74,240 - 8,000 - Sep 11 – 
Sep 14

9 Sep 
14

36,000 300,000 $4.00 - $6.13 (16,000) - 74,240 - 320,000 -

 
Employee Performance Rights 2012

Month 
of 
issue

Balance  
at 

1.7.11

No. 
rights 

issued
hurdle price 

range

No. of 
rights 

vested
vesting 

Date

Fair 
value on 

date of 
issue

($)

Number 
lapsed / 

cancelled 
during the 

year

Balance 
at

30.6.12

vested 
at

30.6.12
vestment 

Period
Expiry 

Date
Nov 
2011

- 12,000 $5.50 - - - - 12,000 - Nov 12 – 
Nov 15

28 Nov 
15

Sep 
2010

60,000 - $3.00 -$5.00 (36,000) 9 Sep 
11

164,520 - 24,000 - Sep 11 – 
Sep 14

9 Sep 
14

60,000 12,000 $3.00 -$5.50 (36,000) - 164,520 - 36,000 -
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Inputs used in the valuation model for share based payment arrangements which were entered into during the year.

Share-based payments have been valued by an independent financial services provider. Share options have been valued using a Binomial 
Valuation Model. Performance rights have been valued using a Monte-Carlo valuation model. The following input parameters have been used 
in determining the value of share-based payments:

Grant Date
Expiry 
Date

Number of 
Securities

vesting 
Date

Expected 
Exercise 

Date (1)

current Share 
Price (2)

($)

Exercise 
Price

($)
Dividend 

Yield  (3)

Risk Free 
Rate  (4) volatility (5) “Fair value”

28 Nov 07 3 Oct 12 250,000 3 Oct 08 3 Oct 11 3.24 2.98 2.23% 6.36% 40% 1.17

250,000 3 Oct 09 3 Jan 12 3.24 2.98 2.23% 6.34% 39% 1.18

250,000 3 Oct 10 3 Apr 12 3.24 2.98 2.23% 6.32% 39% 1.19

250,000 3 Oct 11 3 July 12 3.24 2.98 2.23% 6.30% 38% 1.20

23 Apr 08 23 Apr 12 390,000 23 Apr 09 23 Oct 10 2.55 2.51 2.90% 6.61% 38% 0.64

367,500 23 Apr 10 23 Apr 11 2.55 2.51 2.90% 6.55% 37% 0.68

367,500 23 Apr 11 23 Oct 11 2.55 2.51 2.90% 6.53% 38% 0.74

7 Oct 08 7 Oct 12 115,000 7 Oct 09 7 Apr 11 1.07 1.25 2.77% 4.44% 44% 0.22

107,500 7 Oct 10 7 Oct 11 1.07 1.25 2.77% 4.54% 42% 0.23

107,500 7 Oct 11 7 Apr 12 1.07 1.25 2.77% 4.62% 41% 0.25

26 Nov 08 7 Oct 12 100,000 7 Oct 09 7 Apr 11 1.07 1.25 2.77% 4.44% 44% 0.22

100,000 7 Oct 10 7 Oct 11 1.07 1.25 2.77% 4.54% 42% 0.23

100,000 7 Oct 11 7 Apr 12 1.07 1.25 2.77% 4.62% 41% 0.25

17 Jun 09 17 Jun 13 112,000 17 Jun 10 17 Dec 11 1.34 1.36 3.14% 4.11% 55% 0.41

109,000 17 Jun 11 17 Jun 12 1.34 1.36 3.14% 4.55% 51% 0.42

109,000 17 Jun 12 17 Dec 12 1.34 1.36 3.14% 4.73% 49% 0.43

17 Aug 09 17 Aug 13 50,000 17 Aug 10 16 Feb 12 1.82 1.79 2.11% 4.66% 56% 0.59

50,000 17 Aug 11 16 Aug 12 1.82 1.79 2.11% 4.86% 53% 0.61

50,000 17 Aug 12 15 Feb 12 1.82 1.79 2.11% 4.99% 50% 0.60

19 Mar 10 19 Mar 14 137,000 19 Mar 11 17 Sep 12 2.25 2.14 1.76% 5.08% 58% 0.78

137,000 19 Mar 12 19 Mar 13 2.25 2.14 1.76% 5.21% 56% 0.81

137,000 19 Mar 13 17 Sep 13 2.25 2.14 1.76% 5.30% 53% 0.81

5 Aug 10 5 Aug 14 27,000 5 Aug 11 3 Feb 13 2.69 2.60 1.48% 4.49% 58% 1.01

26,500 5 Aug 12 5 Aug 13 2.69 2.60 1.48% 4.50% 55% 1.05

26,500 5 Aug 13 3 Feb 14 2.69 2.60 1.48% 4.56% 54% 1.10

28 Oct 10 28 Oct 14 19,000 28 Oct 11 28 Apr 13 3.34 3.36 1.19% 4.79% 56% 1.20

15,500 28 Oct 12 28 Oct 13 3.34 3.36 1.19% 4.83% 55% 1.30

15,500 28 Oct 13 28 Apr 14 3.34 3.36 1.19% 4.83% 54% 1.35

12 Aug 11 12 Aug 15 34,000 12 Aug 12 10 Feb 14 4.16 4.16 2.38% 4.14% 42% 1.10

33,000 12 Aug 13 12 Aug 14 4.16 4.16 2.38% 4.24% 50% 1.38

33,000 12 Aug 14 10 Feb 15 4.16 4.16 2.38% 4.37% 52% 1.52

9 Sep 11 9 Sep 15 50,000 9 Sep 12 10 Mar 14 4.65 4.68 2.13% 4.21% 42% 1.22

50,000 9 Sep 13 9 Sep 14 4.65 4.68 2.13% 4.28% 50% 1.55

50,000 9 Sep 14 10 Mar 15 4.65 4.68 2.13% 4.38% 52% 1.71

24 Nov 11 7 Jun 14 300,000 7 Jun 12 6 Dec 13 4.25 3.51 2.33% 3.65% 40% 1.30

28 Nov 11 28 Nov 15 73,000 28 Nov 12 29 May 14 4.25 4.17 2.33% 3.74% 44% 1.18

68,500 28 Nov 13 28 Nov 14 4.25 4.17 2.33% 3.85% 47% 1.36

68,500 28 Nov 14 29 May 15 4.25 4.17 2.33% 3.99% 52% 1.57

28 Nov 11 28 Nov 15 17,000 28 Nov 12 29 May 14 4.25 4.17 2.33% 3.74% 44% 1.18

16,500 28 Nov 13 28 Nov 14 4.25 4.17 2.33% 3.85% 47% 1.36

16,500 28 Nov 14 29 May 15 4.25 4.17 2.33% 3.99% 52% 1.57

9 Jan 12 9 Jan 16 84,000 9 Jan 13 10 Jul 14 4.40 4.37 2.25% 3.12% 45% 1.21

83,000 9 Jan 14 9 Jan 15 4.40 4.37 2.25% 3.11% 45% 1.31

83,000 9 Jan 15 10 Jul 15 4.40 4.37 2.25% 3.16% 50% 1.53
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Grant Date
Expiry 
Date

Number of 
Securities

vesting 
Date

Expected 
Exercise 

Date (1)

current Share 
Price (2)

($)

Exercise 
Price

($)
Dividend 

Yield  (3)

Risk Free 
Rate  (4) volatility (5) “Fair value”

Valuation of Performance Rights
9 Sep 10 9 Sep 14 30,000 9 Sep 11 9 Sep 14 2.83 3.00 2.00% 4.60% 40% 2.44

10,000 9 Sep 11 9 Sep 14 2.83 3.50 2.00% 4.60% 40% 2.22

10,000 9 Sep 12 9 Sep 14 2.83 4.00 2.00% 4.60% 40% 1.89

10,000 9 Sep 12 9 Sep 14 2.83 4.50 2.00% 4.60% 40% 1.70

10,000 9 Sep 12 9 Sep 14 2.83 5.00 2.00% 4.60% 40% 1.53

28 Nov 11 28 Nov 15 12,000 28 Nov 12 28 Nov 15 4.25 5.50 2.35% 3.10% 40% 3.12

29 Nov 12 12 Oct 16 33,334 12 Oct 13 12 Oct 16 4.03 5.15 2.00% 2.70% 40% 3.00

33,333 12 Oct 13 12 Oct 16 4.03 5.64 2.00% 2.70% 40% 2.77

33,333 12 Oct 13 12 Oct 16 4.03 6.13 2.00% 2.70% 40% 2.55

33,333 12 Oct 14 12 Oct 16 4.03 5.15 2.00% 2.70% 40% 2.80

33,334 12 Oct 14 12 Oct 16 4.03 5.64 2.00% 2.70% 40% 2.59

33,333 12 Oct 14 12 Oct 16 4.03 6.13 2.00% 2.70% 40% 2.40

33,333 12 Oct 15 12 Oct 16 4.03 5.15 2.00% 2.70% 40% 2.56

33,333 12 Oct 15 12 Oct 16 4.03 5.64 2.00% 2.70% 40% 2.36

33,334 12 Oct 15 12 Oct 16 4.03 6.13 2.00% 2.70% 40% 2.18

(1) The current share price is the closing market price on the ASX as of the issue date of the options, and the closing market price as of the issue date 
for the Implied Options.

(2) The dividend yield is the annualised gross percentage yield continuously compounded and sourced from Bloomberg
(3) The risk free rate is the implied yield on zero-coupon Australian government bonds, at the issue date, continuously compounded, corresponding to 

the expected life of the options and the Implied Options.
(4) The Volatility factor is based on the historical volatility observed for Troy, as per Bloomberg, corresponding to the expected life for the options and 

the Implied Options.

The following table reconciles the share options outstanding at the beginning and end of the year.

2013 2012

No

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price $ No

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price $
Balance at beginning of year 2,844,000 3.02 2,914,000 2.16

Granted during the year - - 1,060,000 4.10

Exercised during the year (1,511,000) 2.64 (1,121,000) 2.12

Lapsed during the year - - (9,000) 2.14

Balance at end of year 1,333,000 3.43 2,844,000 3.02

Exercisable at end of year 789,000 2.87 1,522,000 2.39

In addition to the above share options, during the year ended 30 June 2013 300,000 (2012: 12,000) performance rights were granted. Each 
right entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the Company at an exercise price of $nil subject to satisfying certain 
criteria. 16,000 rights vested during the year (2012: 36,000) and no rights lapsed during the year (2012: nil).
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26. Segment Reporting
The following is an analysis of the consolidated entity’s revenue and results by reportable operating segment:

Segment Revenue
Year Ended

Segment Profit
Year Ended

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Producing Operations:
Argentina 147,388 132,588 44,190 49,629

Brazil 55,327 75,993 5,604 26,775

Total Operations 202,715 208,581 49,794 76,404

Exploration:
Argentina (16,055) (14,903)

Capitalised Argentina 8,366 7,253

Brazil (1,147) (1,597)

Capitalised Brazil - 623

Australia and Other - -

Total Exploration (8,836) (8,624)

Total Segments 202,715 208,581 40,958 67,780

Other income 1,730 2,215

Corporate Administration (8,364) (7,992)

Corporate – other expenses (1,393) (1,001)

Finance costs (1,358) (3,290)

Impairment loss - (938)

Profit before tax 31,573 56,774

Income tax expense from continuing operations (15,438) (24,125)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 16,135 32,649

Profit / (Loss) for the year from discontinued operations 2,455 (1,227)

Consolidated segment revenue and profit for the year 202,715 208,581 18,590 31,422

The revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no intersegment sales during the year.

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without the allocation of central administration costs and Directors’ salaries, 
interest income, profit on the sale of shares, gains on sale of exploration tenements, expenses in relation to corporate facilities, and tax 
expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of 
segment performance.

All precious metals sales by the Group during the current year were to one major counterparty based in New York on commercial terms at 
prevailing market prices. The Group also has precious metal sale facilities available with Investec.
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The following is an Analysis of the consolidated entity’s assets and liabilities by reportable segment:

Total Assets
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
Continuing Operations:
Argentina 153,309 104,504

Brazil 11,652 20,226

Australia 468 476

Total Segment assets 165,429 125,206

Cash and cash equivalents 26,086 58,922

Other financial assets 10,256 134

Other assets 4,228 1,086

Total Assets 205,999 185,348

Assets held for sale now disposed - 93

Total Consolidated Assets 205,999 185,441
 
Various corporate and head office assets including cash held and income tax balances have not been allocated to the underlying segments.

Total liabilities
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
Continuing Operations:
Argentina 38,271 18,150

Brazil 3,455 3,145

Australia - -

Total liabilities 41,726 21,295

Income tax liabilities 16,032 14,781

Borrowings - 14,227

Other liabilities 2,381 1,674

Total Liabilities 60,139 51,977

Provision – liabilities held for sale, now disposed - 1,192

Total Consolidated Liabilities 60,139 53,169

Unallocated liabilities include tax liabilities, deferred consideration and consolidated entity borrowings not specifically allocated to any one 
underlying segment.

Other Segment Information
2013

($’000)
2012

($’000)
Continuing Operations:
Depreciation & Amortisation
Argentina 11,454 12,138

Brazil 19,202 19,443

Australia - -

Total Segment 30,656 31,581

Corporate 367 501

Total Depreciation & Amortisation 31,023 32,082

Additions to non-current assets
Argentina 47,435 12,003

Brazil 9,471 11,943

Australia - -

Exploration 8,366 7,253

Total Segment 65,272 31,199

Corporate 203 412

Total additions 65,475 31,611
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27. Commitments for Expenditure

(a) Exploration Commitments

The Group has minimum statutory commitments as conditions of tenure for certain mining tenements. In addition it has commitments to 
perform and expend funds towards retaining an interest in formalised agreements with joint venture and prospective joint venture partners. 
Whilst these obligations may vary, the following is considered to be a reasonable estimate of the minimum projected payments required at 30 
June 2013 if it is to retain all of its present interests in mining and exploration properties, within the context of existing joint ventures.

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Not longer than 1 year 164 1,048

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 438 1,438

Longer than 5 years - -

(b) Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments contracted for as at the reporting date:

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Not longer than 1 year 1,609 10,620

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years - -

Longer than 5 years - -

(c) Operating Leases

Operating lease arrangements as at the reporting date:

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Not longer than 1 year 1,130 1,755

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 226 502

Longer than 5 years - -

The Group has given securities in the form of general bank guarantees to financial institutions (Refer Note 28).

28. Contingent Liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities other than:

(a) Environmental performance bonds provided by financial institutions given to various State Departments of Mines and Petroleum and joint 
venture partners to a total value of Nil (2012: $2,729,125). This represented security against breach of environmental conditions.

(b) All general sureties given to various State Departments of Mines and Petroleum in the prior years with regards to the Sandstone project have 
now been cleared following the sale of Sandstone (2012: $280,000). This represented security against breach of environmental conditions.

(c) General bank guarantees to financial institutions total $168,103 (2012: $163,423), of these $106,705 (2012: $85,259) are cash backed.
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29. Subsidiaries
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the following subsidiaries:

country of Incorporation

Ownership Interest

2013 % 2012 %
Parent Entity: Troy Resources Limited Australia

Subsidiaries:

Wirraminna Gold Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Troy Resources Argentina Ltd Canada 100 100

Troy Resources Brasil Participações Ltda Brazil 100 100

• Sertão Mineração Ltda Brazil 70 70

Troy Brasil Exploração Mineral Ltda Brazil 100 100

• Agreste Mineração Ltda Brazil (i) 100

• Cerado Mineração Ltda Brazil (i) 100

• Nortao Mineração Ltda Brazil (i) 100

Troy Resources Holdings BVI British Virgin Islands 100 100

• Reinarda Mineração Ltda Brazil 100 100

(i) During the financial year ended 30 June 2013, these entities were legally merged into their parent entity as a single entity, Troy Brasil 
Exploração Mineral Ltda.

 

30. Events Occurring After Balance date
Subsequent to 30 June 2013:

(i) Troy gained effective control of Azimuth on 2 July 2013 when it declared its takeover offer unconditional. Troy announced that it was moving 
to compulsory acquisition on 11 July 2013 and this was completed on 28 August 2013. The takeover offer resulted in Troy issuing 76,173,846 
fully paid ordinary shares and 61,460 unlisted share options with an exercise price of $0.569, expiring on 13 August 2014.

(ii) the $40 million in debt facilities from Investec became available for drawdown on 2 July 2013.  For further information on these facilities, refer 
to Note 16 (iii).  At the date of this report, Troy had drawn $15 million under the RCF and $15 million under the ALF.

(iii) on 29 August 2013, Messrs T S Harvey and R Monti joined the Board as non-executive Directors pursuant to the terms of the Takeover Bid 
Implementation Agreement that was entered into at the time of announcing the offer for Azimuth, and Mr G R Chambers resigned as a non-
executive Director.  

Other than the above, there are no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since 30 June 2013 that have significantly affected or may 
significantly affect:

(iv) the consolidated entity’s operations in future financial years; or

(v) the results of those operations in future financial years; or

(vi) the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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31. Financial instruments

(a) Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return 
to stakeholders through optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged in 2013.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed in Note 16) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, 
reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests as detailed in Notes 17, 18, 19).

The Group’s Board reviews the capital structure of the Group for any new acquisition or significant project. As part of the review, the Board 
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group’s aim is to minimise the use of debt by utilising 
it in very specific purposes, such as capital development projects which are supported by strong feasibility analysis. The Group would 
normally target less than 50% debt on any one project, but may choose to spread that risk across all projects of the Group through the use of 
a corporate facility. The gearing ratio at 30 June 2013 was Nil (2012: Nil) (refer below).

(i) Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was as follows:

2013
(A$’000)

2012
(A$’000)

Debt (i) 2,433 14,227

Cash and bank balances (excluding restricted cash) (20,894) (51,020)

Net Debt - -

Equity (ii) 145,860 132,272

Debt to equity ratio 0% 0%

(i) Debt is defined as long- and short-term borrowings (excluding derivatives and financial guarantee contracts).
(ii) Equity includes all issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests as detailed in Notes 17, 18, 19.
 
Externally Imposed Capital Requirements

As per the Group’s debt facility with Investec a minimum available cash balance of $5,000,000 must be maintained at all times. Management 
monitors cash flows to meet these obligations and the Group has complied with the requirements as at reporting date, refer Note 16.

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments

2013
(A$’000)

2012
(A$’000)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 26,086 58,922

Trade and other receivables 23,854 17,706

Other financial assets 10,256 134

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (30,983) (14,155)

Power Line payable (2,599) (3,828)

Borrowings – Amortised cost (2,433) (14,227)
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(c) Financial Risk Management Objectives

The Group’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and international financial 
markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group though internal risk reports which analyse 
exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price 
risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group may seek to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board, which provide written principals on foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments, and the investment of 
excess liquidity. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the external auditors on a continuous basis. The Group does 
not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The Corporate Treasury function reports monthly to the Board, which monitors risks and policies implemented to mitigate risk exposures.

(d) Objectives of Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments from time to time in the normal course of business in order to hedge its exposure to 
fluctuations in the Australian dollar/United States dollar (USD) gold price, and Australian dollar/USD exchange rate. The Group does not 
enter into or trade derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

(e) Commodity (Gold and Silver) and Foreign Currency Contracts

The Group did not have any commodity (gold and silver) and foreign currency contracts as at 30 June 2013. The Group’s policy is generally 
not to hedge the price of gold and silver.

(f) Market Risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (refer Note 31 (g)), interest 
rates (refer to Note 31(h)) and commodity risk - gold prices (refer to Note 31(k)). There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to 
market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk from the previous period.

(g) Foreign Currency Risk Management

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. 
Exchange rate exposures are managed by ongoing review by management of exchange rate fluctuations between the Australian dollar, the 
Brazilian real, Argentinean Peso and the USD and the hedging of significant foreign currency transactions where considered necessary to 
mitigate a portion of the risk. The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at 
the reporting date is as follows:

Assets liabilities

2013
(A$’000)

2012
(A$’000)

2013
(A$’000)

2012
(A$’000)

USD 14,625 32,291 2,818 4,027

The Company and its subsidiaries primarily trade in their functional currencies. Balances above exclude amounts denominated in the 
functional currency of each of the companies within the Group. Certain inter-company loans between entities are denominated in USD and 
loans outside the Group are denominated in the functional currency of the parent entity. The Group is mainly exposed to the Brazilian real 
and Argentinean Peso through its combined mining operations in Brazil and Argentina, and the USD through USD denominated purchases 
of equipment along with sales of gold and silver. Brazilian and Argentinean mine development is also impacted.

Sensitivity Analysis – Exchange Rates

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the Australian dollar against the relevant foreign 
currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding 
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The 
sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in 
a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and other equity 
where the Australian dollar strengthens 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of the Australian dollar against the relevant 
currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below would be negative.
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2013
(A$’000)

2012
(A$’000)

Judgements of reasonably possible movements

AUD/USD +/- 5%

- Post tax profit higher/(lower) 10,136 10,437

- Total equity higher/(lower) 12,360 10,802

AUD/BRL +/- 5%

- Post tax profit higher/(lower) 56 952

- Total equity higher/(lower) 5 1,462

AUD/PESO +/- 5%

-Post tax profit higher/(lower) 805 881

-Total equity higher/(lower) 88 (982)
 
The movements in profit and equity in 2013 are comparable to 2012 due to gold and silver sales being denominated in USD.

(h) Interest Rate Risk Management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group place funds on deposit at variable rates. The Group’s exposure to interest 
rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the relevant notes.

Sensitivity Analysis - Interest Rates

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the reporting date and the stipulated change 
taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period.

A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used because this represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s:

• net profit would increase / decrease by $339,000 (2012: $272,000) This is mainly attributable to higher cash deposit balances held in 2013 
as compared to 2012.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current period mainly due to increased average cash deposits over the year.

(i) Credit Risk Management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has 
adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group 
measures credit risk on a fair value basis.

The credit risk on financial assets of the Group which have been recognised on the Statement of Financial Position, other than investment in 
shares, is generally the carrying amount, net of any allowances for doubtful debts. Equity investments which are traded on organised stock 
markets will vary with market movements.

The Group has an exposure to gain or loss in the event counterparties fail to settle on derivative contracts with the Group. At 30 June 2013, 
the Group had no exposure or commitments to any counterparty on derivative contracts (2012: Nil).

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

(j) Liquidity Risk Management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, who have built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework 
for management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity 
risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities. Note 16 sets out details of additional undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce 
liquidity risk.
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Liquidity and Interest Risk Tables

The following table details the consolidated entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up 
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the consolidated entity can be required to pay. 
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

2013 lIABIlITIES

Weighted  
average effective 

interest rate
%

1 year or less
(A$’000)

1 to 5 years
(A$’000)

More than  
5 years

(A$’000)
Total

(A$’000)
Non-interest bearing 31,861 1,720 - 33,581

Variable interest rate instruments 15.25 270 2,163 - 2,433

Financial guarantee contracts 107 - - 107

32,238 3,883 - 36,121

2012 lIABIlITIES

Weighted  
average effective 

interest rate
%

1 year or less
(A$’000)

1 to 5 years
(A$’000)

More than  
5 years

(A$’000)
Total

(A$’000)
Non-interest bearing - 13,885 3,830 - 17,715

Variable interest rate instruments 8.07 16,119 - - 16,119

Financial guarantee contracts - 3,068 - - 3,068

33,072 3,830 - 36,902
 
The amounts included above for the financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could be forced to settle under the 
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end 
of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that such an amount will not be payable under the arrangement. 
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function 
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The following table details the consolidated entity’s expected maturity for its financial assets. The tables below have been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the 
consolidated entity anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

2013 ASSETS

Weighted  
average effective 

interest rate
%

1 year or less
(A$’000)

1 to 5 years
(A$’000)

More than  
5 years

(A$’000)
Total

(A$’000)
Non-interest bearing 23,854 2,138 - 25,992

Variable interest rate instruments 1.12 10,178 - - 10,178

USD variable deposit 0.02 13,757 - - 13,757

Short term deposits 3.18 2,150 - - 2,150

Convertible notes 8.00 10,184 - - 10,184

60,123 2,138 - 62,261

2012 ASSETS

Weighted  
average effective 

interest rate
%

1 year or less
(A$’000)

1 to 5 years
(A$’000)

More than  
5 years

(A$’000)
Total

(A$’000)
Non-interest bearing - 14,604 3,102 - 17,706

Variable interest rate instruments 1.52 10,518 - - 10,518

USD variable deposit 0.02 32,391 - - 32,391

Short term deposits 4.74 16,113 - - 16,113

73,526 3,102 - 76,728
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Subsequent to year end, the Group completed the 100% acquisition of Azimuth, and all convertible notes outstanding as at 30 June 2013, 
were reclassified as an intercompany loan with commercial interest rates still in effect. For further information on these convertible notes refer 
Note 10.

The Group’s loans to the Argentinian subsidiary as at 30 June 2013 and 2012 are at commercial interest rates. Loans to Brazil in 2012 were 
interest free, income tax is payable in Australia on implied interest income from the Company’s loans to its Brazilian income generating 
subsidiary Reinarda Mineração Ltda. All loans owing by Reinarda Mineração Ltda were repaid during the 2012 financial year. Brazilian law 
prohibits interest being charged to and remitted by associated companies.

(k) Commodity Risk Management

The Group is a gold producer and has exposure to the gold price .The Group operates so as to remain exposed to fluctuations in the gold 
price as is the current industry practice. The Group does not have any gold hedging contracts (refer (e) above).

Sensitivity Analysis – Gold Price

The sensitivity analysis below is based on the actual quantities of gold sold during the year and the stipulated price change.

2013
(A$’000)

2012
(A$’000)

Judgements of reasonably possible movements

Gold Price +/- 50.00 AUD per ounce

- Post tax profit higher/(lower) 4,146 4,494

- Total equity higher/(lower) 4,146 4,494
 
The movements in profit and equity in 2013 is consistent with 2012, due to comparable production and sales levels. Gold equivalent ounce 
production decreased by 8% compared to 2012.

(l) Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the Financial Statements represents their respective fair values, 
determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 1.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and interest and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and financial liabilities approximates 
their carrying value, with exception of the total debt facility which had a carrying amount of $2,433,000 (2012: $14,227,000) compared to 
a face value of $2,433,000 (2012: $15,000,000). The face value of the debt equates to its fair value because it has a variable interest rate.

At 30 June 2013, inventories include 154 ounces (2012: 1,944 ounces) of refined gold bullion. This bullion is valued in the Financial Statements 
at cost of $109,000 (2012: $1,161,000) (refer Note 9). This inventory would have had a market value of $201,000 (2012: $3,060,000) based 
on a gold spot price of A$1,304 per ounce (2012: A$1,574/oz).

(m) Fair Value Measurements Recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

The Group holds certain shares in listed entities that are measured at fair value subsequent to initial recognition. All such investments are 
classified as available for sale, and are valued based on the closing share price of the listed share at the reporting date. The Group had no 
other financial instruments at either 30 June 2013 or 2012 that are measured at fair value. The available for sale investments are classified as 
level 1 within the fair value hierarchy as per AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure. There were no financial assets or liabilities categorised 
as level 2 or 3 held during the current or previous years. 
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32. notes to the Cashflow Statement

(a) Reconciliation of Cash

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in interest 
bearing deposits. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related 
items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Cash at bank 4,088 5,234

Cash at bank – overseas 17,634 34,687

Short term Interest bearing deposits – Australia 4,364 19,001

26,086 58,922

(b) Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Net Profit After Income Tax

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Operating profit / (loss) after income tax 18,590 31,422

Depreciation of non-current assets 11,047 13,666

Amortisation of non-current assets 19,976 18,416

(Gain) / Loss on sale of plant & equipment (178) -

(Gain) / Loss on sale of non-current assets - (12)

(Gain) / Loss on sale of discontinued operation (3,300) -

Foreign exchange (gain) / loss unrealised (882) -

Foreign exchange gain on cash balances held 213 (657)

Equity settled share-based payment 821 1,001

Net (gain) / loss on disposable available-for-sale assets - 938

Interest income received and receivable (473) (558)

Non-cash interest expense 1,272 137

(Decrease) / Increase in income tax payable 2,087 13,399

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) / decrease in current receivables (9,118) (4,924)

(Increase) / decrease in inventories (3,830) (5,786)

Increase / (decrease) in provisions 2,881 54

Increase / (decrease) in payables 15,529 9,887

Net Cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 54,635 76,982

(c) Financing Facilities

Refer to Note 16 for details of available financing facilities
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33. Parent Entity disclosures

(a) Financial Position

Accounting policies of the parent are consistent with that of the consolidated group.

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Assets
Current assets 34,197 52,550

Non-current assets 116,818 115,912

Total assets 151,015 168,462

Liabilities
Current liabilities 11,165 29,924

Non-current liabilities 129 14,387

Total liabilities 11,294 44,311

Net Assets 139,721 124,151

Equity
Issued capital 109,695 101,804

Retained earnings - opening 28,025 35,377

Current year profit / (loss) 15,245 (2,035)

Dividends paid / payable (9,045) (5,317)

Reserves

Available for sale (62) -

Share based payment 4,932 4,376

Foreign exchange translation (9,069) (10,054)

Total Equity 139,721 124,151

Financial Performance
Dividends received from subsidiaries 14,052 5,968

Interest and management fees charged to subsidiaries 6,985 9,924

Discontinued operations profit / (loss) 2,455 (1,227)

Other Income 2,010 540

Administration, corporate, financing and other expenses (10,257) (17,240)

Profit / (Loss) for the year after tax 15,245 (2,035)

Other comprehensive income 1,479 2,247

Total comprehensive income 16,724 212

(b) Guarantees Entered into by Parent Entity in Relation to Debts of its Subsidiaries

Guarantee provided under the deed of cross guarantee - -
 
Please refer Note 16 for details of the Group’s guarantee in regards its debt facility.

(c) Contingent Liabilities of the Parent Entity

2013
($’000)

2012
($’000)

Bank guarantees - Government - 2,729

Bank guarantees - General 138 148

General sureties - Government - 280

138 3,157
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There are no contingent liabilities other than:

(a) Environmental performance bonds provided by financial institutions given to various State Departments of Mines and Petroleum and joint 
venture partners to a total value of Nil (2012: $2,729,125). These are security amounts against breach of environmental conditions and are 
not expected to be exercised in the normal course of business.

(b) All general sureties given to various State Departments of Mines and Petroleum in the prior years with regards to the Sandstone project have 
now been cleared following the sale of Sandstone (2012: $280,000). This represented security against breach of environmental conditions.

(c) General bank guarantees to financial institutions total $138,103 (2012: $148,164), of these $70,000 (2012: $70,000) are cash backed.

Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, by the parent entity

As at 30 June 2013, the parent entity held no commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

34. Business Combinations

(a) Acquisition of Azimuth

Principal activity
Date of  

acquisition

Proportion of 
shares acquired  

(%)

consideration  
transferred  

($’000)
2013 Azimuth Exploration 02/07/2013 100 127,067

 
Troy acquired Azimuth in order gain exposure to the exploration growth potential of its West Omai project in Guyana. This project will enable 
the Company to diversify its activities by operation and country and capitalise on its extensive experience in South American gold exploration 
and mine development.

(b) Consideration Transferred

Azimuth ($’000)
Fully paid shares issued in Troy 127,067
Contingent consideration arrangement -

127,067

Acquisition-related costs amounting to $572,000 have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have been recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss in the current year, within the ‘Other expenses - Corporate’ line item, refer Note 4.
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(c) Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed at the Date of Acquisition

Azimuth ($’000)
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7,465
Trade and other receivables 229
Inventories 539
Non-current Assets
Other receivables 20
Plant and equipment 2,641
Exploration properties 163,092
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 1,682
Contingent liabilities 4,971
Non-Current Liabilities
Other financial liabilities 10,184
Provisions 1,225
Deferred tax liabilities 28,857

127,067
 
The initial accounting for the acquisition of Azimuth Resources Limited has only been provisionally determined at the end of the reporting 
period. For tax purposes, the tax values of Azimuth’s assets are required to be based on market values. As at the date of these consolidated 
financial statements, the necessary market valuations and other calculations had not been finalised and they have therefore only been 
provisionally determined based on the Directors’ best estimate of the likely tax values.

(d) Calculation of the Fair Value Adjustment to Exploration Properties Arising on Acquisition

Azimuth ($’000)
Consideration transferred 127,067
Less fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (49,337)
Fair value adjustment of acquisition 77,730

Fair value adjustment arising on acquisition – exploration properties 101,049
Deferred tax liability (23,319)

77,730

(e) Net Cash Outflow on Acquisition of Subsidiary

The acquisition of Azimuth was a script for script takeover occurring after balance date. No cash was provided as consideration to the former 
owners and directors of the company. Cash and cash equivalents of $7.46 million were acquired as part of the acquisition.

(f) Impact of Acquisitions on the Group

The business combination has occurred after the reporting date and any additional business generated from Azimuth has not been included 
in the Group results.

Had this business combination been effected at 1 July 2012, the revenue of the Group from continuing operations would have been $202.7 
million, and the profit for the year from continuing operations would have been $12.2 million. The Directors of the Group consider these ‘pro-
forma’ numbers to represent an approximate measure of the performance of the combined Group on an annualised basis and to provide a 
reference point for comparison in future periods.
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35. Additional Company information
Troy Resources Limited is a public company, incorporated and operating in Australia with subsidiary companies operating in South America 
and Canada.

Registered Office

Unit 12, 1st Floor

11 Ventnor Avenue

West Perth

Western Australia 6005

Tel: +61 8 9481 1277
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directors’ declaration
The directors declare that:

(a) In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable; 

(b) The attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as stated in Note 1 to the 
financial statements; 

(c) In the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including 
compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity; and

(d) The directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors of Troy Resources Limited

    

D Dix      P Benson
Non-Executive Chairman    CEO & Managing Director

Perth, Western Australia
26 September 2013
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independent Auditor’s Report
FOR ThE FinAnCiAL YEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2013
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